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Lord Justice Richards :

INTRODUCTION

1.

This is the judgment of the court, to which bothnmbers have contributed. The case
concerns UK policy and practice in relation to ttansfer to the Afghan authorities of
suspected insurgents detained by UK armed forcebhdncourse of operations in
Afghanistan. The policy is that such detaineestarbe transferred to the Afghan
authorities within 96 hours or released, but aretade transferred where there is a
real risk at the time of transfer that they willffen torture or serious mistreatment.
The claimant’s case is that transferees into Afgtustody have been and continue to
be at real risk of torture or serious mistreatmemd, therefore, that the practice of
transfer has been and continues to be in breadheopolicy and unlawful. The
claimant seeks, in effect, to bring the practicdrahsferring detainees into Afghan
custody to an end. If detainees cannot be tramesfethe likelihood at present is that
they will have to be released. Thus the importapicéhe case lies not only in its
subject-matter but also in its implications for @@y in Afghanistan and the
effectiveness of UK operations there.

The claimant is a peace activist who is opposdtieqresence of UK and US armed
forces in Afghanistan. The fact that she may hawveder objective in bringing her
claim is, however, an irrelevance. The claim ftslbrought in the public interest,
with the benefit of public funding. It raises issuof real substance concerning the
risk to transferees and, although the claiman#iading to bring it was at one time in
issue, the point has not been pursued by the Seg@t State.

We wish to pay tribute to the way the case has Ibeedled by all concerned, albeit
after a slow start on the part of the Secretargtate.

The claim was filed in December 2008. Time wag losthe first half of 2009
through the Secretary of State’s firm resistanceht® grant of permission. That
resistance came to an end, however, in June 2008wing the emergence of fresh
allegations of mistreatment of UK transferees, prdnission to apply for judicial
review was granted by consent on 29 June. In thd few months there were
repeated complaints by the claimant's legal remredées about delay by the
Secretary of State in serving his detailed grouadd evidence and in making
disclosure. The claimant’'s representatives carbetfaulted for the continued
application of pressure, but we have reached nw e whether the particular
complaints about delay were justified, since it mad been necessary for us to
examine in any detail the matters that were camdass a number of directions
hearings held in the latter part of 2009 and e2@i0.

What is clear to us, however, is that by the tirh¢he final hearing the Secretary of
State had adopted a commendably conscientious agptowards the discharge of
his disclosure obligations and his duty of candouk. massive, costly and time-
consuming disclosure exercise had been undertad@oss the range of relevant
departments and agencies, covering material incthusitry and in Afghanistan. By
the time of the hearing only minor issues of disale remained, and they were
largely resolved through the good sense of counsel.



10.

In continuing discharge of his obligations, the r&&ry of State also produced further
material in the course of the hearing and aftetiring had ended, so as to provide
the court with an update on recent development$hoAgh the claimant made some
criticism of the speed with which updates were et after the relevant information
became known to the Secretary of State, we do cadpa that there are legitimate
grounds for complaint, given the need for the Sacyeof State to investigate matters
first in order to provide the court with as fulldamccurate an account of them as
possible.

In any event, we are satisfied that no order fathfer disclosure was or is needed.

Moreover, procedures were put in place to ensuaé itiaterial covered by public
interest immunity or by statutory restrictions asatbsure could be taken fully into
account by the court. This was achieved in partisglosure to the claimant’s legal
representatives on the basis of appropriate uridegs, and in part by the
appointment of special advocates to deal with nedtdrat could not be disclosed to
the claimant’s legal representatives. The clairsdapal representatives co-operated
with the process in a highly responsible fashioithe process meant that the court
had to split the hearing into three categoriesenogessions, semi-closed sessions (in
which the public were excluded but the claimant®irtsel and counsel for the
Secretary of State addressed the court, with teeiagpadvocates also present), and
closed sessions (in which the public and the clatregdeam were excluded but the
special advocates and counsel for the Secrete8yadé addressed the court).

The evidence before the court includes a large murabwitness statements, together
with exhibits, on behalf of the claimant and thecr8&ary of State. Some of the
claimant’s evidence has the status of expert eceléut the factual material relied on
is in practice more important. We will refer tcetstatements as appropriate in the
course of our judgment, without setting out hereovatl the withesses are or the
matters that they cover. There are also numeitassdf documents disclosed by the
Secretary of State, to which extensive references wade in the course of
submissions. We have thought it necessary to seéttle relevant facts at
considerable length because the case ultimatelgndkspon an assessment of risk in
the light of the factual circumstances taken ashale; but we have endeavoured not
to overload the judgment with detailed referencethé individual documents.

By orders made at previous directions hearingsgtlestion whether there should be
cross-examination of the Secretary of State’s vgges was left over to the hearing
before us, and the Secretary of State was dir¢otedsure so far as possible that his
witnesses were available to attend the hearinge gdssibility of cross-examination
remained a live one until late in the hearing. Td&mant's skeleton argument
identified various issues which were submitted ¢oshitable for cross-examination.
At the outset of the hearing Mr Fordham QC indidatieat he would seek a ruling
once the court had heard opening submissions omsuhstantive issues from both
counsel in open and semi-closed sessions. Whdntitha came, however, Mr
Fordham all but abandoned the application for ceo@snination. He acknowledged
that he was not impugning the good faith of anyness or seeking a ruling on any
disputed issue of fact, that there was nothing belevput to the witnesses that he had
been unable to put by way of submission, and tkeatduld not contend that cross-
examination was necessary in order to deal fairti the claim.
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We had no difficulty in concluding in those circuiarsces that the application for
cross-examination should be refused, essentiallytie reasons conceded by Mr
Fordham. It appears that the reason why the isadebeen kept open was to guard
against the possibility of an argument on behathefSecretary of State that the court
should not depart from the assessments or judgnmeatie by the various witnesses
unless the claimant’s criticisms of those assessr@rjudgments had been put to the
witnesses themselves. Mr Eadie advanced no sgcimant, and it seems to us that
the concern was an unreal one from the outset.

This is the open judgment of the court, in which deal with material that can
properly be disclosed in a judgment open to thdipamd we set out the conclusions
that we draw from that material. We also indiddue effect on those conclusions of
the evidence considered in semi-closed and closedians. The details of the
evidence covered in those semi-closed and closssioses are, however, covered in a
separate, closed judgment.

We were asked by counsel for the claimant and bysfiecial advocates to consider
putting some of the closed evidence into the puldikanain by means of this
judgment. We have decided against that courseereThre legitimate reasons of
public interest for protecting the closed evidefiman publication. Through the
procedures adopted in this case, it has been pedgeiball of it to be taken properly
into account by the court. It is consistent wiie tonclusions we have reached in any
event by reference to the open material. It costaothing of such concern as to call
for public disclosure in the interests of justic those circumstances the balance
comes down in favour of its continued protecticnirpublication.

THE BROAD FACTUAL CONTEXT

14.

15.

16.

There are currently about 9,000 UK armed forcesquerel in Afghanistan. The vast
majority of them, and the only ones involved in tapture and transfer of detainees,
operate under the command of the International i@gcissistance Force (“ISAF”).
They are present in the country pursuant to a UNdate and with the consent of the
Government of Afghanistan in order to assist tlategnment in the maintenance of
security and in reconstruction. The UK is one @frations contributing troops to
ISAF.

ISAF was established at the end of 2001 at the esiqof the Government of
Afghanistan, following UN talks which led to the Bo Agreement of 5 December
2001. In an annex to the Bonn Agreement, the @patits in the UN talks requested
that the UN Security Council consider authorisinge tearly deployment to
Afghanistan of a UN mandated force. Shortly théezain UNSCR 1386 (2001), the
UN Security Council, acting under Chapter VIl oét@harter of the United Nations,
authorised the establishment of ISAF. The Coumas#l extended ISAF’'s mandate in
successive resolutions, in recognition of the fiett the situation in Afghanistan
continues to constitute a threat to internatiorage and security. Since August 2003
ISAF has operated under the command of NATO.

Afghanistan is a sovereign state and, as the UNirfgdCouncil resolutions make
clear, the international community has pledgeduapsrt Afghan sovereignty over its
entire territory and to ensure respect for thateseignty even in the context of
military operations within the country. Afghanisthas jurisdiction over all persons
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18.
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in its territory, save to the extent that it hapressly agreed that ISAF and supporting
personnel will be subject to the exclusive jurisidic of their national elements.

The law of armed conflict applies to military opgwas conducted in internal armed
conflict and, subject to compliance with that lakiK armed forces operating in
Afghanistan are authorised to kill or capture iggmts. Indeed, a vital element of
fulfilling the UN mission is the capture of persom$o threaten the security of
Afghanistan. The power to capture insurgents eldetio a power to detain them
temporarily. In the absence of any express awhbon in the UN Security Council
resolutions, however, the Secretary of State tékewview that the UK has no power
of indefinite internment. That is why the issudrainsfer to the Afghan authorities is
of such importance.

Insurgents may have committed offences under Afdénannotably the 1987 Law on
Crimes against Internal and External Security dared2008 Law on Combat against
Terrorist Offences. The Afghan Government is &dito prosecute those within its
jurisdiction who are believed to have committedenffes. Successful prosecutions
are an important element of the strategy for saguthe rule of law and bringing
security to Afghanistan. Accordingly, where captliinsurgents are believed to have
committed offences against Afghan law, sound remgaust for their transfer into the
custody of the Afghan authorities for the purposieguestioning and prosecution.

Under ISAF standard operating procedures, the grniyinds upon which a person
may be detained are that the detention is necessal$AF force protection, for the
self-defence of ISAF or its personnel, or for tkeamplishment of the ISAF mission.
Such persons should be detained for no longer36arours, subject to the possibility
of an extension in certain circumstances. Theytringn be released or transferred to
the Afghan authorities. The standard operatingcguaares explain that the
Government of Afghanistan has overall responsybitr the maintenance of law and
order within the country and that when transferrangetainee ISAF cannot seek to
constrain the freedom of action of the Afghan atitles. Bilateral agreements may,
however, be concluded with the Afghan Government (e actual memoranda of
understanding entered into between the Governnfeaifghanistan and the UK and
other ISAF states are discussed below). Furthee, procedures state that
“[c]onsistent with international law, persons shibulot be transferred under any
circumstances in which there is a risk that thewgligiected to torture or other forms
of ill treatment”.

The UK’s policy reflects that of ISAF. There aretaled standard operating
instructions on how to detain individuals, lookeafthem in detention and, where
appropriate, manage their onward transfer to thgham authorities. The key point
for present purposes is that detainees are nat teabsferred into Afghan custody if
there is a real risk that they will suffer tortuneserious mistreatment.

That is set out with particular clarity in a Marg@10 written policy statement by the
Secretary of State which has been lodged in theselofi Commons library. It is an

up-to-date statement of general application, bigt fitot in dispute that it encapsulates,
so far as relevant, the policy that has applieallanaterial times to UK operations in

Afghanistan:
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“1.2 This Policy Statement, which is to be obsdrwdenever
UK Armed Forces undertake detention in an operatitreatre
reflects the importance which | attach to ensutimg humane
treatment of those it is necessary to detain incthese of our
operations. ...

2.1 This policy applies across the MOD and the édrirorces
and to all detention activities undertaken in rarjt theatres of
operation. It sets out the minimum standards whalst be
applied. ...

3.1 I require the Ministry of Defence and Armeddes to:

() Ensure that Detained Persons are not traresfetom
UK custody to any nation where there is a real askhe
time of transfer that the Detained Person will sutbrture
[or] serious mistreatment ....”

The practice of transferring UK detainees to thgh&in authorities commenced in
July 2006 and, subject to certain moratoria appfiech time to time in respect of
transfers to specific Afghan detention facilitiésis continued to date. The detailed
arrangements in place concerning such transfersliaceissed later. Transfers have
been made on the basis of a continuing assesshednthere is no real risk that the
persons transferred will suffer torture or seriqusstreatment while in Afghan
custody. The claimant contends that that assesdmasrbeen wrong and unfounded
throughout and that transfers should not have made and should not now be
made.

The Secretary of State’s evidence points to thal vilnportance of detention

operations to UK armed forces operating in south&fghanistan, in particular

Helmand province. The counter-insurgency campangisouthern Afghanistan is

challenging and highly dangerous, with a partidyldmigh threat from improvised

explosive devices, ambushes and snipers. Hunaretdd service personnel have
been killed or wounded. There have also been noanljan casualties. Detention

operations are central to the efforts of UK fort¢esprotect themselves and local
civilians from such attacks. They are also crutmathe UK’s wider contribution to

assisting the Afghan Government to bring securitgl atability to the country, for

example by enabling insurgents to be prosecutedrébdghe Afghan courts and by
providing the opportunity for the gathering of iitgeence. If it were not possible to
transfer detainees to Afghan custody, the consemsenvould be very serious.
Detainees would have to be released after a sinogt teaving them free to renew
their attacks and cause further death and injuiflge opportunity to prosecute them
and to gain intelligence would be lost. There wobe a severe impact on the
counter-insurgency strategy generally. There woaldo be a significantly

detrimental effect on UK-Afghan relationships asrasany levels, damaging the
ability of UK armed forces effectively to train amdentor Afghan forces and to
increase Afghan capacity.
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None of those considerations can affect the stantabe applied when determining
whether the transfer of detainees to the Afghahaiites is lawful; and if and to the
extent that the claimant’s case is well foundedttaesfer of detainees must be halted
notwithstanding the consequences for UK operatiand the UN mandate in
Afghanistan. But the seriousness of the potenbakequences underlines the need to
evaluate the claimant’s case with the utmost care.

THE HISTORY OF TRANSFERS: SUMMARY

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

It may provide a useful reference point if, befesemining the factual evidence in
detail, we provide a very brief summary of the dngtof transfers of UK detainees.
This is far from being a full chronology. Nor dodgsattempt to weave in, for
example, the various allegations reported by noregonental organisations
concerning ill-treatment of detainees in Afghamsta the evidence concerning ill-
treatment of detainees transferred by Canadiame$orc

On 23 April 2006 a Memorandum of Understanding (IMp was entered into
between the UK and the Government of Afghanistamceming the transfer by UK
armed forces to the Afghan authorities of persataided in Afghanistan.

UK transfers started in July 2006 and have contnte date, subject to certain
moratoria in relation to transfers to individualcifdies. The great majority of
transfers (a total of over 400 detainees) have bmade into the custody of
Afghanistan’s National Directorate of Security €HNDS”). A small number of
transfers have been made to the Afghanistan Coiaerotics Police, but they are
not material to this case.

There are three relevant NDS facilities, namelyséh@t Kabul (a facility often
referred to as “Department 17", which is the iniggging branch of the NDS in
Kabul), at Kandahar (the capital of Kandahar prog)nand at Lashkar Gah (the
capital of Helmand province, where UK armed forbaese been particularly active).
It is also relevant to note the existence of pgsonder the control of the Ministry of
Justice, where convicted prisoners are held anghich some detainees have also
been transferred by the NDS pre-trial. The prisans Pol-i-Charki (sometimes
spelled Pol-e-Charki) prison in Kabul, Sarposa qrisn Kandahar, and Helmand
provincial prison in Lashkar Gah.

In September/October 2007 there was an Exchangettérs (“the EoL”) between

the UK and other ISAF states on the one hand am&thvernment of Afghanistan on
the other hand, making additional provision abadeas to the Afghan facilities by
personnel of the transferring states and by noregouental and international bodies.

In September 2007 an allegation was made by a diksteree at NDS Lashkar Gah
that he had been ill-treated while in detentiorréheThe allegation was investigated
by UK personnel, who reached the conclusion thabg unsubstantiated.

In November 2007 the UK rejected a call for a maniatn on transfers following the
suspension of transfers by Canada (as a resulllegations of ill-treatment of
Canadian transferees) and the publication of artepp Amnesty International
recording allegations of torture and ill-treatmeoft detainees by the NDS and
recommending a moratorium.
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34.
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37.

In December 2008 the UK imposed a moratorium onsfexs to NDS Kabul as a
result of the NDS’s refusal of access to that figcifor the purpose of visiting
transferees. The moratorium in respect of Kabugl teemained in place since then,
save for an exceptional case involving the tranefeone UK-captured detainee to
Kabul in January 2010.

In March 2009 and subsequent months, in the cafreisits by UK personnel to Pol-

i-Charki prison (carried out in order to check ol Wansferees who had been
transferred on by the NDS without prior notificatido the UK), allegations were
made by a number of transferees that they had iiedesated while in detention at

NDS facilities in the period 2007-2008. Most oé tbomplaints related to Kabul, but
there were also complaints about Kandahar and leasBlh. The circumstances in
which these complaints were made, the investigabbthem and the conclusions
drawn are important features of the case.

The allegations led to the imposition of an immesliaoratorium on UK transfers to
Kandahar (a moratorium on transfers to Kabul alydaging in place). Transfers to
Lashkar Gah continued.

The moratorium on transfers to Kandahar was lifte@ebruary 2010 but no further
transfers have in fact been made to that facility.

On 25 March 2010 the head of the NDS sent a léttehe British Ambassador in
Kabul to provide further assurances in respecthef treatment of, and access to,
detainees transferred by the UK into NDS custody.

Between February and April 2010 there were substadhtficulties in gaining access
to NDS Lashkar Gah. Those difficulties have noverbeesolved. The UK has
continued to make transfers to that facility.

THE NATIONAL DIRECTORATE OF SECURITY (THE NDS)

Status of the NDS

38.

39.

The NDS is Afghanistan’s external and domesticlliggnce agency. It succeeded
KHAD, which was the security agency created whea 8oviet Union was in
Afghanistan and which had a reputation for its metwof neighbourhood informers
and the use of torture. The NDS conducts intellbgegathering, surveillance, arrest
and detention of those suspected of crimes agaatbnal security. It acts, in
particular, pursuant to the 1987 Law on Crimes AgiakExternal and Internal Security
and under the 2008 Law on Combat against Terr@fifgnces. Its precise status is a
matter of some doubt. Its powers are said to beedaat least in part on an
unpublished Presidential decree. On one accdwntdecree is administrative in
nature. The UN and NGO reports summarised belolde repeated expressions of
concern about the NDS’s lack of transparency acdwatability.

The Afghan Constitution and the Afghan Penal Codipit all acts of torture and
inhuman punishment. For example, Article 29 of Afghan Constitution provides
that “No one shall be allowed to order torture, rever discovering the truth from
another individual who is under investigation, atyeletention, or has been convicted
to be punished”, and Article 30 provides that desteent, confession or testimony



obtained by means of compulsion shall be invalithose provisions apply to all
agencies in Afghanistan, including the NDS. TheS\iB also said to regard itself as
bound by Afghan law on prisons and detention centreugh there is some evidence
that the provisions of the 2005 Prison Law do rmilain terms to NDS detention
facilities. In any event a central question in tlase is whether the constitutional and
legal requirements are observed by the NDS in jpeact

Role of the NDS

40.

41.

42.

The NDS investigates security and terrorist offenck the NDS concludes that there
is insufficient evidence of insurgent terroristieity, the detainee is handed over to
the normal criminal court system or released. & tHDS considers there to be
sufficient evidence, detainees are dealt with engpecial security court system. This
runs in parallel with the normal criminal court®rosecutions in the security courts
are under the authority of the Attorney Generahe Becurity courts themselves are
under the authority of the Supreme Court.

As already mentioned, there are NDS detention if@slin Kabul, Kandahar and
Lashkar Gah. All three have interrogation fa@kti There are separate, non-NDS
prisons in each location. Pol-i-Charki prison il is the most important. It
houses some 4,500 prisoners and contains a hightyeging.

The majority of NDS cases are processed and puteseen the provinces where the
arrest and detention takes place, or where peram$ianded over to the Afghan
security forces. High-value detainees or thosemggledangerous or likely to escape
are transferred to Kabul.

Transfer of detainees to the NDS

43.

44,

45.

46.

We have already referred to ISAF and UK policy @nig the transfer of detainees
to the Afghan authorities. ISAF standard operapngcedures provide that the NDS
should be considered as the preferable receptidyg fus ISAF detainees. That, it is

explained, is in order to ensure common processmptracking of the detainee, once
handed over. The procedures state that whenewer, safety considerations and
circumstances permit it, detaining forces shoul#eravery reasonable effort either to
release detainees or to transfer them to the cystioithe NDS office in their region.

ISAF policy is reflected in the standard operatingtructions for UK armed forces.
The instructions identify the NDS as the correctji#dn authority to which detainees
will be transferred, and set out procedures for bwat is to be effected.

Under the instructions the actual transfer of tbehee to the Afghan authorities is to
be conducted, so far as operations in Helmand pcevare concerned, at Lashkar
Gah. On transfer the Royal Military Police hanceiothe detainee, together with

physical evidence and detainee property, and olataignature for the transfer from

the senior NDS officer present. Once translatee,detainee file must be forwarded
to the NDS at Lashkar Gah within 72 hours of thedawer in order that the NDS is

able to make an informed decision to charge oasgl¢he detainee.

The instructions provide that if there are speagfiounds to believe that a detainee
may be mistreated by the Afghan authorities onfter &ansfer, such concerns should
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be raised with the legal adviser to UK forces dmForce Provost Marshal (the staff
of the Force Provost Marshal includes those whagseciality is custody and

detention). Any decision to cease or continue vwdmsfer will be taken at the

Permanent Joint Headquarters.

The International Committee of the Red Cross (TDRC”) is to be informed of such
transfers as soon as practicable. Wherever pestile Afghanistan Independent
Human Rights Commission (“the AIHRC”) should beorrhed at the same time. The
instruction explains that this is to ensure thatehs additional scrutiny and oversight
of the assurances contained in the MoU the UK h#bk whe Government of
Afghanistan (a topic we consider later).

At the date of the hearing some 418 of those persimtained by British forces in
Afghanistan had been transferred to the NDS, aridrther 8 to the Afghanistan
Counter-Narcotics Police. Of the 410 persons dethiby British forces and
transferred to the NDS between July 2006 and Maed0, 357 went to Lashkar Gah,
34 to Kandahar and 19 to Kabul. There are somtannes where individuals
transferred to one facility were subsequently motsgdthe NDS to another of its
facilities.

Independent reports on the NDS

49.

The NDS is thus an important element in our comattlen of the practice of detainee
transfer under challenge in this case. A conskderaolume of evidence before the
court is directed at the nature of the NDS anddt®rd of treatment of detainees. A
starting point for considering this material is tteporting of the AIHRC, a body

established under Article 58 of the Afghanistan §bation to monitor and promote

human rights and to refer for investigation compiaireceived about the violation of
human rights. We will then consider the reportvafious United Nations agencies
and NGOs. Some of the material focuses spedifical the NDS, some of it looks at
Afghan authorities more generally, but even thatrengeneral material may have
some bearing on an assessment of the NDS.

AIHRC reports

50.

51.

In 2005 the AIHRC documented 66 cases of tortur&atul province, including
cases as severe as the amputation of limbs. Aaogptd the AIHRC it was unlikely
that any of the police officers involved in suclses had been reprimanded.

The AIHRC expressed particular concern about a reopeby the police and the
Attorney General’s office of a case of torture f8sg in death of a detainee in Kabul
police custody, which implicated the Kabul policaranander and the Kabul director
of criminal investigation. In late 2005, a perseas arrested by Police District 13 in
Kabul on allegations that he had raped two youmts.giThree days later, he was
taken to a hospital where he died. Investigationthe AIHRC suggested that he had
been severely tortured. The Ministry of Interiovestigation conducted shortly after
his death acknowledged torture but mentioned at latack as the cause of death.
The investigation implicated the moral crimes dépant of the criminal
investigation department of police headquartersaausation that the AIHRC found
credible. Subsequently the Attorney General's @ffissued a third report, clearing
police headquarters of all involvement and blaniadjce District 13.
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53.

54.
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S7.

Of major importance is the AIHRC’s April 2009 repoin “Causes of torture in law

enforcement institutions”. The research was begud006/2007 and completed in
2007/2008. It used 18 professional human righsearchers and interviewers to
conduct interviews with victims of torture or theelatives. The sample for the
research from the Commission’s database of 10,@@€ops consisted of 398 victims
of torture in prisons and other detention centr€xuestionnaires were sent to 100
families of victims and to 100 officials and exmertOver 28 provinces and most
ethnic groups were included. The report explainat few cases of torture in

Afghanistan are investigated. Not all victims céanp Another constraint on the

research was that prison or detention centre affickept victims away from the

Commission’s researchers.

The findings of the research were that torture ath@r cruel, inhuman or degrading
treatment were a commonplace practice in the nmgjoof law enforcement
institutions in Afghanistan. At least 98.5% of iniewees believed they had been
tortured by these institutions. The causal factofgtorture in law enforcement
institutions included obtaining confessions andinesny from a suspected or accused
person, the absence of techniques in collectingeenie and documents to prove
crime, personal enmities and the influence of péwlgrersons, and the impunity of
torturers because there is no monitoring institutioln most cases, suspected or
accused persons do not have sufficient awarenetseiofhuman rights to raise them
in court. No one had been prosecuted for tortulestitutions where torture was
common included the police (security, justice, ficaf national security, detention
centres, prisons, prosecution offices, and thenatiarmy.

Statistically, most torture and other cruel, inhanoa degrading treatment was in the
police (259 of the 398 interviewees). The nexhbgl category was 59 persons who
said that they had been tortured in the officepadenents and sections of national
security (the NDS). Methods of torture were phakiattack, beating by rod and

cable, electric shock, deprivation of sleep, wated food, scorching and abusive
language. Of all interviewed victims, 21 exhibitgllysical signs of torture on their

heads. The effects of torture were observablehenféet and other parts of the
majority of victims.

The 398 interviewees in the research named 24 presior districts of Afghanistan
as the places where they were tortured. The intsdead usually taken place during
the previous six years. Most incidents occurredKapisa province (119 cases).
Herat province was in second place, with 67 caaed, Kandahar province was in
third place, with 47 cases.

To address the complaints, the Commission hadatetleevidence to verify them and
sought the opinion of doctors about the effectstasfure when necessary. The
Commission then referred the complaints to thevegleprosecution offices and other
relevant authorities to take legal action agaihstdlleged perpetrators. Most of the
authorities, except national security, had to soex¢ent cooperated with the
Commission. The Commission’s monitoring and foHopv had partially and
gradually decreased torture in some of the agenexeept national security.

While the research for the “Causes of torture” repmas being completed, in
December 2008 the AIHRC offered a league tablésdive major concerns for 2008.
At the top of the list was civilian casualties. ritwe had dropped from second to third



place. The AIHRC had received 398 reports of tertn 2008, mostly at the hands of
the police and NDS (though there is a puzzling ddience between that figure and
the 398 people interviewed for the “Causes of teftueport ). That was a reduction
on the previous year’s figure. The AIHRC notedositive vein that the authorities
generally allowed the AIHRC to investigate repafts$orture.

United Nations reports
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United Nations reports have raised concerns abortire and other inhuman
treatment by the NDS. In April 2004 the UN Seangt@eneral appointed Professor
Cherif Bassiouni as the independent expert on hungins in Afghanistan. His

report of March 2005 was based, inter alia, on taissions to the country. In the
report he recognised the importance of nationaursgc but drew attention to

allegations that the coalition forces and speamsuof the Afghan security agencies
and police engaged in arbitrary arrests and detemtiand committed abusive
practices, including torture. The independent expxeived testimony from former
detainees about such abuses and had communicatedrterns to officials of the

governments of Afghanistan and the United Statés.identified the absence of due
process in the arrest and detention of personstlamduse of torture by various
government intelligence entities, including thosesariated with the NDS, the
Ministry of Defence and the Ministry of the Interio

“The independent expert notes that there are nhellSpcurity
institutions managed by the National Security Diveste, the
Ministry of the Interior and the Ministry of Defeacwhich
function in an uncoordinated manner, lack centaaltol and
have no clear mechanisms of formal accountabilitfhe
independent expert has received complaints regarsimious
human rights violations committed by representatigé these
institutions, including arbitrary arrest, illegaketéntion and
torture. He draws attention to the Kakchul casewhich an
individual was detained, allegedly tortured andddie custody
in November 2004 and which requires a thorougmsgarent
and public investigation”.

The Afghanistan Justice Sector Overview, prepasethé United Nations Assistance
Mission in Afghanistan (“UNAMA”) in March 2007, ned that the requirement to
maintain national security while also safeguardmgnan rights was a challenge in
Afghanistan. Coalition forces, special units o€ tAfghan security agencies, in
particular the NDS, and the police, had reporteatited outside the rule of law by
engaging in arbitrary arrests and detentions andsia® practices, sometimes
amounting to torture. The NDS continued to ruredgbn centres without adequate
judicial oversight, and access granted to the IGRE& the AIHRC was unreliable.

In March 2007 the UN High Commissioner for HumamtRs reported to the UN
Human Rights Council on the situation of human tggim Afghanistan and on the
achievements of technical assistance in the fieltiman rights. At paragraph 66 the
High Commissioner noted that reports of the uséodiire and other forms of ill-
treatment by the NDS were frequent. Individualsravelocumented as having
“disappeared” when they were arrested by NDS @iffsciand access to the facilities
where they were held had been problematic for théR&L and the United Nations.
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In the current climate of instability and conflithe lack of oversight mechanisms, the
absence of scrutiny of the intelligence service daém and the lack of access to their
facilities were of serious concern. A promisingmshad been taken in January 2007
with the first human rights training programme DS officers organised by the
United Nations, the AIHRC and others.

The High Commissioner for Human Rights visited Adglstan in November 2007.
A press release at the conclusion of the visitnaw that she had shared her concerns
regarding the treatment of detainees with the gowent, ISAF and representatives of
contributing states. Transfers to the NDS weréiqdarly problematic, “given that it

is not a regular criminal law enforcement body apérates on the basis of a secret
decree”. The High Commissioner urged the Presidémfghanistan to ensure
greater transparency of, access to and accoumyafuti the NDS, starting with the
publication of the decree on which its powers agehl.

The High Commissioner’s report for 2008 returnedhe subject. Effective rule of
law required a mechanism to hold the NDS accouatédnl its actions, while still
respecting the complex demands of protecting damesturity. Unlike the police
force, which was legally mandated to identify crémend arrest suspects, the NDS
operated under a presidential decree, which had yedt been made public.
Apparently accountable only to the President, tiiZSNhad not been the object of
reforms. It also operated detention centres witlamiequate judicial oversight, with
only sporadic access granted to independent mamgtdrodies. UNAMA and the
AIHRC had received reports of torture and illegat arbitrary arrests. The High
Commissioner had raised these concerns with rel@tghorities and was encouraged
by their assurances that UNAMA would be given faed unrestricted access to NDS
facilities, and that it would also be advised c# identities of those detained by the
NDS so that families of the detainees could be duformed. The High
Commissioner was also pleased by the governmergsision to investigate
allegations of torture and ill-treatment of det@iseand looked forward to the
publication of its findings. Apparently no suclpogt has been published.

In the January 2009 annual human rights reportUNeHigh Commissioner again
reiterated the view that there was little inforroation the conditions and treatment of
detainees. The NDS continued to operate withoptildic legal framework clearly
defining its powers of investigation, arrest andedéon, and the rules applicable to
its detention facilities. UNAMA had received coraits from individuals previously
detained by the NDS that they were tortured. Toattent of detainees by the NDS,
including those transferred from the control ofemmiational military forces, raised
guestions concerning the responsibility of the vate troop contributing countries
under principles of international humanitarian &odhan rights law.

In February 2009, Afghanistan submitted a NatidReport to the Human Rights

Council of the UN General Assembly. In a shortisecon the NDS, the report noted

that the NDS had tried to observe human rightsdstals in some aspects of its
performance, including allowing its detention cestto be monitored by some human
rights organisations. “Likewise, there are stdhee criticisms of mistreatment and
torture of prisoners and intimidation of some jalists and human rights activists”

(para. 16).
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These human rights concerns have been repeated redular reports on Afghanistan
by the Secretary-General of the UN to the Genesalefbly, pursuant to the Security
Council mandate of the United Nations Mission irgiAdinistan. Thus in March 2007,
under the heading “Human rights and the rule of |dlae Secretary-General referred
to ill-treatment and torture to force confessiomshe justice system, and specifically
to the problems of access for the AIHRC and UNAMANDS and Ministry of
Interior detention facilities. The September 20@port repeated the concerns
although it did not mention the NDS specificallifowever, the March 2008 report
did so, stating: “Cases of torture and ill-treattnehdetainees held by the Afghan
authorities continue to be reported. In this rdgéne absence of effective oversight
of the NDS is of particular concern”.

NGO reports
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A number of international NGOs have criticised MBS for using torture and other
inhuman methods on persons it has detained.

Amnesty International (“Amnesty”) published a repor November 2007 entitled
“Afghanistan detainees transferred to torture: 1S&émplicity?” The report’s
summary begins that Amnesty had received reportsraire, other ill-treatment, and
arbitrary detention by the NDS. By transferrindiinduals to a situation where there
was a grave risk of torture and other ill-treatme8AF states might be complicit in
this treatment and were breaching their internafiolegal obligations. After
reviewing the context, the international framewarld memoranda of understanding,
the report turns in chapter 5 to torture. The sdcpart of chapter 5 addresses
concerns about the NDS and reads, in part:

“Over the past two years, Amnesty International rexived
repeated reports of torture and other ill-treatmendetainees
by the NDS from alleged victims and their relativas well as

a range of organisations including UN agencies. e Th
organisation is gravely concerned [that in] the eamlog of
effective investigations and prosecution of thasgponsible, a
culture of impunity persists with victims havingtle hope of
justice or redress. ...”

No specific case of torture of a person transferii@sn ISAF to the NDS is
mentioned. Chapter 6 of the report registers Any'eesoncern that the reported
patterns of NDS abuse remain difficult to monitéieetively. Among the report’s
recommendations to ISAF was an immediate moratormTfurther transfers, and
among the recommendations to the Afghan governmeastreform of the NDS to
ensure that its operations were properly regulatettansparent legislation, which
separated the functions of custody and interrogaand put an end to human rights
violations by NDS officials.

The UK response to the Amnesty report was to setrmiarrangements in place to
ensure that detainees transferred were not torturdbdtreated, and to state that there
was no evidence that any person detained by Britistes and transferred had been
tortured or ill-treated.
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Amnesty’s report for 2008 referred to the NDS’s qyea mandate and the lack of
separation of functions such as detention, intettiog, investigation, prosecution and
sentencing. That contributed to impunity for pé&m@rs of human rights violations.
There were consistent reports of torture and oilreatment of NDS detainees.
Amnesty returned to the issue in its 2009 repaterring to scores of detainees
having been tortured.

We turn next to Human Rights Watch. In Novembéd&0n anticipation of a NATO
summit meeting in Latvia, Human Rights Watch sethirae page open letter to the
NATO Secretary General. It was designed to drawn#dbn to the deteriorating
human rights situation in Afghanistan. Human Rsgitfatch said that it had received
credible reports about the mistreatment of detainemsferred to Afghan authorities.
These included credible reports of detainees bmiiggreated by the NDS (with the
mistreatment amounting in some cases to tortulthpugh the NDS had made efforts
to dissociate itself from its predecessor, KHAD,ishhwas notorious for torture.
Furthermore, Human Rights Watch had recently lehthat on at least one occasion
the NDS hid from the ICRC a detainee who had besrléd over by ISAF.

In a two page statement in December 2009, Humamtfigvatch called for an
investigation into the death of Abdul Basir in ND@&partment 17 in Kabul earlier in
the month. The NDS had detained Basir in conneatith an attack in October on a
Kabul guesthouse housing many United Nations siafiyhich eight civilians died.
Basir’s father and two brothers were also detasmsdiremained in custody. An NDS
official told family members that Basir's fathergeed a statement confirming that
Basir had committed suicide and that an autopsy weasequired. The family told
Human Rights Watch that NDS officials told themttifigdhey buried the body Basir’s
brothers and father would be released. Human Rig¥atch reported that it had
received many reports of torture during interrogiagiat NDS Department 17.

The Human Rights Watch Country Summary for Jan2&i0 reiterated that there
were persistent reports of torture and abuse @imets being held by the NDS, with
human rights officials receiving only erratic acce® detention facilities where
abuses were believed to be taking place.

Human Rights First is an international human rigitganisation based in New York
and Washington. In November 2009 it published@oreconcerning the detention
and trials of detainees at Bagram Airbase in Parpaovince. Its researchers
interviewed a number of persons whom the UnitedteStdhad held there but
subsequently released as not being a threat. dncthurse of the report the
organisation referred more generally to the rule lav and to detention in
Afghanistan, stating in particular that individudlsld by the NDS are subjected to ill-
treatment and held arbitrarily. Reference was madthe conclusions of the UN
High Commissioner for Human Rights.

Governmental reports
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The work of the UN agencies and the NGOs on tortarédfghanistan has been
utilised in government reports. Thus a US Statpdtenent report on Afghanistan in
March 2008 recalled that human rights organisatitvasl reported that local
authorities in Herat, Helmand, Badakhshan and dtbetions continued to torture
and abuse detainees. It referred specifically kbddd Amnesty reports to single out
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the NDS and its use of torture and ill-treatmehihe UK Border Agency’s country of
origin information reports on Afghanistan have atsterred to the relevant material
in the UN and NGO reports.

In its Human Rights Annual Report 2008, the Forefgifairs Committee of the
British House of Commons referred to evidence fiedress and concluded that the
potential treatment of detainees transferred by foii€es to the Afghan authorities
gave cause for concern, given that there was deediddence that torture and other
abuses occur within the Afghan criminal justicetegs It recommended that the
government institute a more rigorous system forckimg on the welfare of
transferees in Afghanistan on an individual basis.

UK knowledge of allegations of mistreatment by tR®S
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It is not in issue that the UK has been aware efuarious reports detailed above
concerning torture and mistreatment of detaineegfighhan agencies, including the

NDS. The Secretary of State’s position is thattwithstanding that general

background, the specific circumstances relatindJt transferees are such as to
ensure adequate safeguards for them. Those gigeqié examined later. We think it
right nevertheless to refer here to a few passagdse documents that touch on the
issue of UK knowledge but do not fit convenientlgesvhere. We bear in mind that
views expressed by individual officials in thesedaaother documents are not
necessarily to be taken as expressions of offioéty.

The UK was aware of the Kakchul case, mentionethen2005 report of Professor
Bassiouni, the UN Secretary-General’s human rigiisert in Afghanistan in 2004
and 2005 (see [57] above). The British Embasd$aibul regarded the Afghan report
into the Kakchul case as a whitewash and considbegthe was most likely tortured.

There was a UK visit to the NDS detention facility Lashkar Gah in November
2005, which at the time housed 9 prisoners. Dutliregtour of the facility the party
was given access to the prisoners. There werébtathers from a village in Naway
District, detained approximately 20 days previoustythe basis of intelligence. They
had been stopped in front of the NDS compound and\l& 47 had been found
concealed in a bale of cotton. Under interrogatbme of them admitted that his
brother had links to the Taliban. Both brothermokd that the admission had been
given as the result of beatings and electric shatking the interrogation. One
showed the team his back, but there were no sijbrusing. The brothers did seem
nervous during the visit but were prepared to nthkeallegations of torture while the
NDS guards were present. Another prisoner wasirgetan relation to an attack
involving an improvised explosion device. He hamhfessed to taking part in the
attack and also of taking part in “missile” attackde claimed that he had now seen
the error of his ways and that he was assisting NIllXS in identifying other
insurgents. This was confirmed by the NDS. Desthis he was in leg irons and
looked quite nervous. In the report writer's vi¢he visit served to underline the
necessity of a stronger tie between UK forces &edNDS. The NDS appeared to be
cooperative and relatively professional and themeyriter opined that it should be a
useful source of information and intelligence ie thture.

In a briefing to the Minister for the Armed ForaesMarch 2006, the existence of
controversy over the detention of persons was iggtdd, although this was said to
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be because of the easy link to detention at Guantanthe lingering effects of the
Abu Ghraib scandal, current speculation over UXditem practices and recent
serious unrest in Pol-i-Charki prison in Kabul.

In January 2007 a UK representative raised withAfghanistan Attorney General

allegations of torture at Pol-i-Charki prison. TAgorney General said he had sent
prosecutors to investigate. They had uncovereaeidents of torture and abuse, and
21 of the individuals concerned displayed scarstber injury. He had referred the
matter to the UN to investigate, report and monit@he incidents could have been
racially motivated.

In the first part of 2007 there were allegations noistreatment of detainees in
Kandahar, where the Canadian contribution to ISAIS wentred. This gave rise to
extensive press coverage in Canada and to litigatiscussed in greater detail below.
As a result, specific questions were raised amoKgpfficials about the treatment of

detainees handed over by UK forces in Helmand.onle response, dated 30 April
2007, the limitations on the UK visits to detainees acknowledged. It continued:

“Despite the limitations, we are not aware of aeparts of
mistreatment at Lashkar Gah and the prisoners we ¥aited
have all appeared to be in good health. Furthexntbe NDS
appear to have a semblance of a system for hangéople ...
Against this, however, it should be borne in mirihttall
convictions in Helmand are obtained on the basisoafession
evidence, and the rule of law is considered thekestasector
within plans for the development of governance initthe
province. We therefore need a sense of balandbainthe
positive indicators above are against a pretty woleackdrop
insofar as respect for human rights and respecthiojudicial
process is concerned.”

In July 2007 the United Nations, along with thelifta and Afghan governments,
convened a conference in Rome on the rule of lanAfighanistan. Professor

Bassiouni and Daniel Rothenberg prepared a pobpepentitled “An Assessment of
Justice Sector and Rule of Law Reform in Afghams&nd the Need for a

Comprehensive Plan”. That referred to seriousgatiens of torture by the NDS,

“which is generally feared by many Afghans”. Thevas also a discussion paper
prepared for the panel discussion on Access tacéustt recalled that UNAMA and

the AIHRC continued to receive and verify complainf ill-treatment and torture

used to force confessions. Reports of the useomfire and other forms of ill-

treatment by the NDS were frequent. Individualsravelocumented as having
“disappeared” when arrested by NDS officials andeas to their facilities had been
problematic for the AIHRC and United Nations. \Wention this here because it
seems a fair inference that the conference wasdateby UK officials. Copies of the

papers were included in the documents disclosatidpecretary of State.

In September 2008 UK officials were aware of aestant by the head of the Judicial
Commission of the Afghan Lower House of Parliameéhat inmates at detention
centres of the NDS were being beaten and forcezbmdess their crimes. There is
also a “challenges and key issues” document, peephy UK officials in January
2009, which refers to the need to ensure the humggats compliance of the NDS.
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There were concerns about NDS human rights congdiamthe country as a whole.
“For example, judges in Helmand have told us thatl/thave personally witnessed
evidence of torture when defendants have been htdogjore them”.

The specific allegations of mistreatment by the NBt8ch have been made to UK
officials by individual transferees are addressedrlin this judgment.

Evidence of changes within the NDS
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The Secretary of State has filed evidence, notablthe witness statement of Mr
Dodd, Deputy Ambassador at the British Embassy abWl{, that the NDS as an
institution has undergone considerable changecenteyears. It has received intense
international focus and assistance, as a resulhath the three NDS facilities where
UK-captured insurgents are held are good in corapariwith other detention
facilities in Afghanistan. There is also a higlgaed for the quality of NDS officers,
owing to attractive job opportunities and interaaél training programmes. Many of
the changes have been introduced by new personmgght into the NDS. The UK
has established a very constructive relationship @i number of these individuals,
including the head of the NDS (Dr Saleh), the NO&don Officer based at Kabul,
the head of NDS Lashkar Gah and other senior NDi&ai§.

Mr Dodd states that Dr Saleh was appointed by tiesifent of Afghanistan in 2004,

and that part of his remit is understood to havenbto reform the NDS amid

allegations that his predecessor had abused hierpawd the organisation had
committed and condoned human rights abuses. TitislBEmbassy’'s assessment is
that he has tackled his remit with determination das been effective in using
international support and capacity building assistawhere appropriate. Among
other things, he has requested and overseen tinengyaof NDS detention staff in

human rights and custody techniques; and trainongnivestigative officers has also
been requested and undertaken. The Embassy’s igidhat he is committed to

further improvement.

The NDS has assigned to the UK an NDS liaison @ffin Kabul as the first point of

contact for key issues including detentions. Theege constructive meetings with
him in August 2009 and January 2010. The viewhefBritish Embassy in Kabul is

that the liaison officer has a genuine understapdinand commitment to working to

promote human rights. The liaison officer accep# the history of NDS may have
been associated with human rights abuses but sketethis is not the organisation he
currently works for. In January 2010 he reportedt tNDS officers now complete

two days of human rights training as part of thedauction. The British Embassy has
a constructive working relationship with the liaisofficer.

A good relationship has also been established,rdicpto Mr Dodd, with the NDS
head of training and with the head of DepartmenatlKabul. There are meetings at
least once a month to discuss ongoing trainingireaquents and general issues such
as capacity building work and NDS requests for hutasan assistance. The
assessment is that both individuals fully undexbi@md are committed to ensuring the
human rights of detainees within their care. Traeeplans for the UK to build a new
NDS detention training facility, and training inténnal investigations is scheduled for
the coming financial year. Later in his statemdntDodd gives fuller details of the
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work of capacity building, in particular by way thining of detention officers and
prosecutors.

Whilst the relationship with the NDS is describadcanstructive, Mr Dodd makes the
point that it is also highly complex owing to thatare of NDS work and sensitivities
surrounding issues of sovereignty. He observesthi@®means used when dealing
with difficulties are diplomatic: the UK pressealipely but firmly for the outcome it
wishes to achieve.

Not long before the completion of this judgmentwere informed by the parties that
Dr Saleh resigned on 6 June 2010 as head of the ND$&tter dated 8 June 2010
from the Treasury Solicitor states that his redigma along with that of the Minister

of the Interior, followed a meeting with Presidd€drzai about the security failure
that allowed a rocket attack on the Peace Jirg& dane. Ibrahim Spinzada, the
deputy head of the NDS, has replaced Dr Saleh tearpo It is not yet clear who

will replace him on a permanent basis or when anpaent appointment will be

made. The letter also states that the UK will oarg to work closely with the NDS,

and that staff of the British Embassy in Kabul rema regular contact with the NDS
liaison officer and will continue to closely monitand report back to the UK any
further changes in personnel or relations withNIDES.

THE MoU AND RELATED ASSURANCES
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On 23 April 2006 the UK Secretary of State for Defe and his counterpart, the
Minister of Defence of Afghanistan, signed a Menmokam of Understanding (the
MoU) concerning transfer by the United Kingdom Adnéorces to Afghan
authorities of persons detained in Afghanistane WtoU was originally confidential,
although by July 2006 a copy had been given toHbese of Commons Select
Committee on Defence on a confidential basis. NMo& was also given to members
of the Select Committee on Foreign Affairs of theude of Commons in November
2006 and published by that Committee on 10 Jan2@dy in a report which focused
on the United States detention centre at Guantariagyo A year later the MoU was
followed by an Exchange of Letters (the EolL) betmvedghanistan, the United
Kingdom and some other member countries of ISAF.

Background to the MoU
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The operational background to the MoU was the mpi@se of deployment of UK

forces in Afghanistan in early 2006. In Spring @08,500 UK troops arrived in

Helmand province. There was thus the greater étrat there would be no option
but to detain persons apprehended by UK forcesrdasons of force protection.
Before that the policy in Afghanistan was to avdetaining individuals, wherever

possible. The security environment in Helmand pros, where the forces were to be
located, led to the change.

We have already touched on the limitations on tkéslpowers of detention. The
legal basis on which the UK might detain persorftedid between Afghanistan and
Irag. In Iraq, beginning with UNSCR 1546 of 8 J@®94, there was an explicit right
to intern civilians for imperative reasons of séiyurIn Afghanistan, UNSCR 1386 of
20 December 2001 did not make reference to detentits authorisation for ISAF
forces to use “all necessary measures” to fulfintandate was taken as authority only
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for temporary detention. Yet it was expected tlaat,in Southern Iraq, UK forces
were likely to need to detain individuals suspeaté@ommitting criminal offences,
in line with ISAF policy. It was also likely th#tere would be a need to detain others
who, as in Iraq, were judged to pose a substaatidlimminent threat to UK forces
but who might not have committed a criminal acthefié might also be a strong
interest in interrogating detainees to develophtertthe intelligence picture. Legal
advice confirmed that there was no basis upon whikhforces could legitimately
intern such individuals but they must be transfitteethe Afghan authorities.

As well as the need for access to obtain intellbgeinformation after transfer, the UK
realised that transferring individuals might engatgeobligations under the ECHR.
The UK officials involved in negotiating the MoU w@te that it was structured to
avoid the risk of a breach of the UK’s Conventiobligations which might be
applicable: key points were to prohibit the depémalty, to prevent the transfer of
detainees to a third party, and to enable UK actesietainees transferred to the
Afghan authorities. The last point allowed bothr faccess to detainees for
intelligence purposes and also to confirm theirditton and treatment in the light of
Convention obligations. NATO was also developimg MoU on a similar basis,
which might supplant national arrangements, althoigvas thought unlikely to be
finalised in the near future. In fact a NATO Molhsvnever consummated. The
proposed UK MoU drew on similar MoUs which Canaada #he Netherlands had
recently agreed with the Afghan government.

The MoU in outline

95.

96.

97.

There are two purposes to the MoU, as stated isetend paragraph. The first is to
establish the responsibilities, principles and pdages in the event of the transfer by
UK armed forces to Afghan authorities of persontaided in Afghanistan. The
second purpose is stated as follows:

“Ensure that Participants will observe the basimgyples of
international human rights law such as the righlifeoand the
prohibition on torture and cruel, inhumane and ddog
treatment pertaining to the treatment and trarnsfigrersons by
the UK [armed forces] to Afghan authorities and irthe
treatment.”

The second purpose reiterates one of the threliseset out in the MoU’s preamble.

Paragraph 3 of the MoU contains the responsilslittd the participants. The
responsibilities of UK armed forces are only toeatrand detain personnel where
permitted under ISAF rules of engagement. Detaiaee to be treated in accordance
with applicable provisions of international humaghts law. Detainees are to be
transferred to the authorities of Afghanistan atelarliest opportunity, where suitable
facilities exist. Where such facilities are notexistence, the detainee will either be
released or transferred to an ISAF approved holt#nity.

The responsibilities of the Afghan authorities &weaccept the transfer of persons
arrested and detained by United Kingdom armed $ofoeinvestigation and possible
criminal proceedings. The MoU continues that thghtin authorities
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“will be responsible for treating such individuafsaccordance
with Afghanistan’'s international human rights oatigns
including prohibiting torture and cruel, inhumanenda
degrading treatment, protection against torture @sidg only
such force as is reasonable to guard against escape

The Afghan authorities are also to ensure thatdetginee transferred to them will
not be transferred to the authority of anotherestatcluding detention in another
country, without the prior written agreement of theited Kingdom.

Access to detainees is addressed in paragraphepresentatives of the AIHRC and
UK personnel are to have “full access” to any pesswansferred whilst they are in
custody. The ICRC and relevant human rights insbins with the United Nations
system are also to be allowed to visit such persadBpecifically, UK personnel are to
have “full access to question” any persons thepsfier to the Afghan authorities
whilst such persons are in custody.

Record keeping and notification of change are mledifor in paragraph 5. UK
armed forces are to notify the ICRC and the AIHR@mally within 24 hours, when
a person has been transferred to Afghan authorifies Afghan authorities are to be
responsible for keeping an accurate account ofpalisons transferred to them
including a record of transfer to an alternativédimgy facility and a record of any
prosecution status. Records are to be available tgmpest. The UK is to be notified
prior to the initiation of criminal proceedings wlving persons transferred, and prior
to their release. The UK is also to be notifiecany material change of circumstance
regarding a detainee, including any instance efgadl improper treatment. Paragraph
6 of the MoU prohibits the death penalty for pesstransferred.

MoUs with other ISAF states
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Preceding the UK-Afghanistan MoU, an MoU was sigbhgdhe Canadian Chief of
Defence Staff and the Afghanistan Minister of Defernn December 2005. It
provided for the treatment of detainees in accardawith the Third Geneva
Convention. The ICRC was to be notified and gigeness to detainees. Both sides
were to keep accurate, written records accountorgttiose passing through their
custody. Those records were to be available to I@RC. There was to be
cooperation with the AIHRC. Unlike the UK-Afghatas MoU, the MoU did not
enable the Canadians to monitor directly what hapgesubsequent to their transfer
of detainees. Rather, monitoring of detainees-passfer was entrusted primarily to
the ICRC. That and other features of the arrangésmeere the subject of criticism in
Canada (see below). The UK-Afghanistan MoU wasimeed at the time as a model,
not least by Canadian critics of their own MoU.

Subsequently, an Arrangement was signed by the akigtan Minister of Defence
and the Canadian Ambassador in Kabul on 3 May 200supplement the existing
MoU. It provided for “full and unrestricted” acce$o detainees transferred, and to
detention facilities where those transferred by &citen forces were held, both for
Canadian representatives and the AIHRC. CanaddomMaes notified of the initiation
of proceedings against, the release of, and angigehaf circumstances regarding
such detainees. The Afghan authorities were resblenfor treating such individuals
in accordance with Afghanistan’s international hamights obligations, including
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the prohibition on torture and cruel and inhumamigploment. There was to be no
transfer to a third country authority without weitt permission.

Under the Arrangement, records kept under the Mokfewto be available for
inspection by the AIHRC and ICRC. Detainees werbd held in a limited number
of places to facilitate inspection. Detainees wererequest of those inspecting, to be
able to be interviewed in private. In the eventaiégations of mistreatment, the
Afghanistan authorities were to investigate and adbrming the Canadians, the
AIHRC and the ICRC of progress. All prison autties were to be informed of the
provisions of the MoU and Arrangement.

Under the MoU with the Norwegians, dated 12 Octdi#6, the Afghan authorities
were required to provide “full access” to transéséor both the Norwegians and the
AIHRC. The Afghan authorities were responsible“frcurate accountability” of all
transferees and had to notify the Norwegians ofgxation, release or significant
changes concerning any detainee.

There are also MoUs with Denmark (9 June 2005) tard\etherlands (1 February
2006).

The Exchange of Letters (EoL)
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As early as May 2006, the month after the UK-Afghtan MoU was signed, there
was discussion of a common approach to detentio@dnada, the United Kingdom,
the Netherlands, Australia and Denmark (the “CUNAd®Untries). The recognised
context included that primary responsibility fortelgion lay with the Afghan
government, that ISAF was in Afghanistan in suppufrtits government but that
public opinion in the CUNAD countries was critidal ISAF’'s success. What was
wanted was for detainees transferred to the Afghathorities to receive humane
treatment, including ICRC and AIHRC access, duegss, including a fair trial, and
no death penalty. In particular, the assurancdsiofane treatment and access for the
ICRC and the AIHRC were needed for detainees tar@esferred to the NDS.
Assurances were also needed that the Afghan atifsowould not transfer detainees
onward to a foreign state and that transfer tordrakdetention facility in Kandahar
was available.

At that time it was envisaged that there would beégghanistan-NATO Exchange of
Letters precluding the transfer of detainees tadtparties, along the lines of that in
the UK-Afghanistan MoU. The Afghan judicial secteould need strengthening and
the Afghanistan government would be assisted witlicjal expertise on detention
law and the training of police, army and prisonspanel. There were still questions
to be answered: to which Afghan authority wouldstharrested by the CUNAD
forces be transferred, when the Ministry of Justicas probably not willing or
authorised to receive them; could the Kandahar @stgntion facility be placed under
the authority of the NDS; and how could humanettneat be ensured for those
arrested by the Afghan army and police but in tles@nce of CUNAD troops?

In April 2007 a Canadian newspaper broke the stbay detainees transferred by
Canadian forces had been mistreated by the NDSb@dew/). Around the same time
the AIHRC said that it was having difficulty in gémg access to detainees transferred
by ISAF forces. The Canadian and AIHRC problenwu$ed the UK’s attention on
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the detainee issue and as a result it decidectitational measures were necessary to
ensure that those transferred by UK forces wenegoeeated properly. The EoL was
one such measure and was designed to spell outydieall parties the obligations of
both sides in relation to visiting access.

The EoL took place in September/October 2007. l@ndne side, a letter dated 6
September 2007 and headed “Access to detaineedenaad to the Government of
Afghanistan” was signed by the ambassadors or ésat@ffaires from the embassies
in Kabul of the United Kingdom, the United Staté€3anada, the Netherlands,
Denmark and Norway. The letter sought to set fattcommon approach, in

principle, of those parties regarding access toviddals detained by their forces and
transferred to the custody of the Afghan authaitidt was expressed to be without
prejudice to any of the provisions of bilateraleagements in MoUs. It continued:

“It is the wundertaking of the wundersigned that the
aforementioned bilateral arrangements are to grdted as
permitting officials from each undersigned governme
(including officials from our respective Embassiegembers of
our armed forces, and others duly authorised toesgmt our
governments) to enjoy access to Afghan detentioilitfas to
the extent necessary to ascertain the locationtr@atiment of
any detainee transferred by that government td@inernment

of Afghanistan. On request, an official from oné the
undersigned governments may interview in privatey an
detainee transferred by that government to theodystof
Afghan authorities. Access to Afghan facilities s be
permitted to organisations that are already affdrdecess
under that government’s bilateral arrangements witle
Government of Afghanistan including, where appllealihe
International Committee of the Red Cross and Regs¢ant
(ICRC), relevant human rights institutions withihet UN
system, and the Afghan Independent Human Rights
Commission (AIHRC).”

Thus an important advance on the UK-Afghanistan Meas the express right to
conduct private interviews.

On 16 October 2007 the National Security Advisar Adghanistan, Dr Rassoul,

wrote in reply to confirm, on behalf of the Govemmh of Afghanistan, the

undertakings in the letter. The main reason whyrather than the NDS, was the
counterparty is said to have been that the Nati@wdurity Council have formal

responsibility for detention policy in AfghanistanThere was also a degree of
sensitivity on the part of the NDS and it was thadubgetter not to have it as the
counterparty.

Dr Rassoul's letter continued that the Governmefit Adghanistan agreed,
furthermore, to address any AIHRC recommendationgiprovements and to notify
the AIHRC and relevant embassies of actions tak€he letter concluded that the
NDS would issue written instructions to all of fivincial offices informing them of
the access and visiting procedures outlined in6tiseptember 2007 letter and of the
bilateral arrangements.
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In a UK briefing of 31 October 2007, the EoL was@cterised as one part of a
continuing dialogue on the subject of detainee hagdand treatment. The EoL
indicated the Afghan Government’s engagement irkisgeto meet the standards
required. It had been decided that reiteratingatteess requirements of key members
of the international community would allow an egsiinderstood and transparent
common approach. The EoL was not intended to sigtet there were new
concerns. On the contrary, the UK believed that@overnment of Afghanistan was
taking these matters seriously. It also believet the Afghanistan authorities took
seriously the importance of reliable and indepehdeoess to detainees.

By way of contrast, we should mention the concexgressed by Amnesty on the
subject of MoUs in its November 2007 report, “De&aas transferred to torture: ISAF
complicity?”. The report outlined the MoUs whicBAF states had entered into with
Afghanistan. It referred to the tracking diffigel in respect of detainees transferred
to Afghan authorities and said that this reinforéesdconcern that the MoUs had
failed to provide any transparency in the trangh@cess or any protection for the
individuals concerned. It recommended that ISAftest should not rely on MoUs as
a basis for concluding that a person may be tramsf¢o Afghan authorities without
risk of torture or other ill-treatment.

The NDS and the MoU/EoL
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The NDS is not mentioned in the UK-Afghanistan MolBs we have explained, the
Afghan signatory was the Minister of Defence. ¢ time it was said that one reason
for that was to allow flexibility to determine th®ost appropriate agency under
Afghan law to which a detainee should be transterrd=urther, the Minister of
Defence was signing on behalf of the Governmerfghanistan. The Minister of
Defence made clear at the time, however, that he n@aponding to the political
requirements of troop contributing nations and ,thetless he was provided with
additional assistance, he would be unable to neetdmmitments entered into. He
said that he did not have jurisdiction over theedgbn facilities of other agencies
such as the NDS, nor would he take responsibibtytheir detainees. Before the
MoU was signed, his FCO funded advisor had inforradd authorities that they
could obtain the political commitment immediatelyithout being clear on how the
MoU would be fulfilled, or delay signature so tliae implementation arrangements
were first established.

Because of concern that the MoU might not havebiisi in other parts of the
Afghan government, in May 2006 instructions wenet$eom London to UK officials
in Afghanistan to ensure that it was seen at sel@eels in Afghan agencies,
including the NDS. At a meeting in early June 208@er the MoU was signed, the
NDS lawyer informed British officials that he waware of it. As a result, he said,
the NDS had introduced new forms and he made a asgiable.

At the same meeting the NDS lawyer stated thati@®C had inspected the NDS
facilities and was content with the conditions. {ifces or their agents were free to
visit their transferees at any time. The NDS lamgteessed that the only people who
could visit prisoners in general were human rightsvists, lawyers and the ICRC.
However, he agreed that transparency was impodadt that the UK would be
informed of actions taken in relation to the detas who were transferred. He also
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agreed that the UK could gain access to them atiargy/in order to question them
further.

It may have been this meeting which led the FC@dgert in a policy document in
late June 2006 that the NDS had assured the UKtthatuld honour the terms of the
MoU.

In March 2007 there were meetings between UK @fisicand NDS officials at NDS
headquarters about the detention and prosecutaoegs of suspected insurgents and
terrorists. The treatment of detainees and deteriticilities were on the agenda. It
was the impression of UK officials that both the Sibhief prosecutor and NDS legal
adviser seemed pleased with the meeting and waotetiintain a good relationship
with the British embassy.

The Attorney-General for England and Wales met 8lels, the head of the NDS, on
25 March 2007, and raised the issues of humanstigin legal base for NDS activity
and detentions. The Attorney General asked spadifiabout the investigation into
an incident in Kandahar when a detainee had disapge Dr Saleh said he was
aware of the allegations of mistreatment and hattemrto Kandahar to investigate
the missing person. He did not think there walCRC report on the matter.

By May 2007 there was concern among UK officialsAifghanistan about NDS
detainees. The Canadian press had alleged mmgeaind Canadian officials were
concerned that their MoU was less robust than tifathe UK. There were
discussions with the Danes, Norwegians and Cansdiways to put the NDS under
the spotlight, including a joint visit to Dr Saleffhe UK procedures for notifying the
ICRC and AIHRC were holding up well, it was thougbut access to detainees
“remains a mixed bag”. There was a plan to ragsess to UK transferred detainees
with Dr Saleh, the UK possibly acting along witles.

In June 2007 there was a reference by UK offidialkabul to the proposed EoL not
undermining the existing MoUs but giving the pastia piece of paper from the head
of NDS that we could use where appropriate”. Oa ¢bre issue, accessibility to
monitor, they recorded that experience with the NS diverse, some encouraging,
some not so professional.

In the event, as already explained, the NDS wagh®tAfghan counterparty to the
EoL when the exchange took place in September/@ct@007. The EoL did
envisage that the NDS would issue a written ingiwacto all its provincial offices
informing them of the access and visiting procedurethe EoL and the individual
MoUs. There is no evidence that this was donee ifitention at the British Embassy
in Kabul was for the EoL to be handed over coliegti to the NDS directors. Again
it is unclear whether this occurred. However, URc@ls recorded that the NDS had
responded positively to the UK proposals for thegeflgoment of a tracking system
for detainees, the training of NDS detention séaifi improved detention facilities

In late 2008, as described below, serious problamse over access to UK detainees
held at NDS Kabul and the UK imposed a moratoriumt@nsfers there. At a
meeting with UK officials in January 2009, Dr Sak#did that in his view the MoUs
were with the Ministry of Defence, not with the ND3/oreover, the NDS did not
have the capacity to handle these visits; thereldhime a co-ordinated approach from
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the organisations involved in order to minimise thé&den on the NDS. It was
thought by officials that a possible explanatiorswhaat Dr Saleh was creating a crisis
himself for his own reasons.

In a letter dated 1 February 2009 to the chargiailas at the UK Embassy in Kabul,
Dr Saleh repeated that the MoU was with the MimisteDefence, and stated that the
NDS has no direct obligation under the MoU unlessated by the President. He
referred to problems arising from the demands peccgl access to the NDS detention
facility. Solutions included building the promisegw detention centre, assistance
(including repair works) for the existing NDS fatil and sending one official on
behalf of all countries to visit detainees.

Soon afterwards UK officials in Kabul reported tllaspite advice from London, the
MoU was meaningless locally, unless the Afghansevarallenged at a senior level
about their stance. The NDS did not recognise ahehority of the Minister of
Defence to promise anything on behalf of the NDhe view of UK officials was
that the NDS had to appreciate that UK cooperatiith it was in danger, because of
legal pressures in London, when the NDS’s concems vactually a minor
administrative affair to do with tenders and pro@anagement.

Responding to one of the specific issues raisetitmy the UK, Dutch and Canadian
Ambassadors wrote on 10 February 2009 to Dr Sdlehtahe burden which regular
and uncoordinated visits might place upon the NIAS.the three main nations who
transferred detainees to NDS custody it was praposéhin the framework of the
existing MoUs on transfer of detainees, that regmtives of the United Kingdom,
the Netherlands and Canada should undertake togarijaint visits to NDS facilities.
Those visits would be undertaken on average omeerdh, though this would need to
be dependent on the number of detainees. A noetnagpresentative from the
embassies would contact the NDS liaison officeadmance of any visit, as at present,
but the visit would be joint, rather than by oneiora It was hoped that this would
help minimise any disruption caused by access t& Né&xilities, and allow access
arrangements to resume. In addition, the threéemsatvere committed to help build a
new NDS detention facility in Kabul. The delay @@nthe project was agreed was
regretted.

By June 2009 there had been two new allegationsisifeatment at NDS Department
17 in Kabul. There was to be a meeting with Dre8al It was anticipated by UK
officials that the NDS would raise the point thiahad never signed an MoU with the
UK on detention issues. The UK response was tdhbe the MoU was signed
between the UK Government and the Government ohavigstan. It was signed by
the Minister of Defence but this did not mean isveam MoU between the UK and the
Afghan Ministry of Defence. The UK preferred arftbse to transfer detainees to the
NDS owing to its close working relationship with BCand also because it thought
the NDS had the best people, skills and capacitgetal with important detainees.
This obviously needed to be examined in light o tilegations. Overall UK
officials thought that Dr Saleh would “play hardlha

When UK representatives met Dr Saleh in mid Jumepsrassed him to investigate the
allegations as fully as possible, he said that Biepant 17 was not an NDS facility.
Although the NDS guarded it, it belonged to theo#Atiey General and complaints
about it should be directed to the Attorney Genefat Saleh also raised what UK
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officials described later as an historic issuet @#a MoU with the United States
concerning detainee conditions had resulted inGaiflon grant to the Ministry of
Defence for its implementation, although it was timt ministry which held the
detainees. On the allegations, Dr Saleh said alvasenot deliberate. He undertook
to conduct a full investigation into the allegason UK officials recorded that,
although actions would speak louder than wordsh@s) he appeared to be sincere in
his commitment to pursue the investigation vigohpusSubsequently, after inquiries,
UK officials decided that the claim that Departmé@iit was the Attorney General’s
facility was wrong. The NDS'’s actual investigatiomo the allegations is considered
later.

At a visit to NDS in Lashkar Gah in August 2009 thossibility was raised by the
UK representative of allowing the monthly visits detainees to be conducted in
private. When the Afghan official was informed tthlais was pursuant to the MoU,
he said he was not aware of the MoU.

Dr Saleh’s letter of 25 March 2010
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Notwithstanding the problems referred to above,UKeassessment has been that the
NDS is committed to the principles of humane tresattrthat the MoU is intended to
uphold. However, Dr Saleh was recently asked tafico his commitment with
respect to access to and treatment of UK tranderées a result, Dr Saleh wrote on
25 March 2010 to the British Ambassador in Kaballofving a meeting with the UK
Secretary of State for Defence. In the letter BleB recounted that he had explained
the measures that the NDS was taking, includintging a new detention facility, to
ensure that the international standards of detentiere maintained. Although
neither he nor the NDS had drafted or signed th&/ Me had been well aware of it
and confirmed that the NDS would observe all thepoasibilities, principles and
procedures recorded in it. As agreed with the @ary of State for Defence, and in
the light of the MoU, he thought it helpful to smit the position on the transfer of
detainees between NDS facilities and access taneets which he would direct
should be followed for all detainees transferreaflUK armed forces:

“IN]o detainee transferred to the NDS by the Bhti&rmed
Forces will be transferred to any other facilitydrging to the
NDS or other Afghan authority without notificatioof the
British Embassy in Kabul. In the unlikely evenathhe NDS
wished to transfer a detainee to any other statgpuld seek
the prior written agreement of the United Kingdona ¥he
British Embassy in Kabul. ...

[Tlhe NDS will allow representatives of the British
Government, including members of the British Arntamtces,
full access in private to any detainee transfetoethe NDS by
the British Armed Forces while such persons areustody of
the NDS. The NDS will also notify the British Endsy in
Kabul promptly of any allegations of ill-treatmentade by any
detainee transferred to the NDS by British ArmedcEs; will
investigate promptly any such allegations or, at ibquest of
the British Armed Forces, any allegations madehent, and
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will keep the British Armed Forces informed of theogress
and outcome.”

The letter closed with a summary of UK respondibsi — to treat all detainees in
accordance with applicable international human tsiglaw, to respect the laws,

regulations, customs and traditions of Afghanistanfar as these were compatible
with the United Kingdom’s mission to support theAFSand Operation Enduring

Freedom missions, and to help NDS investigate pialesriminal offences by sharing

information or evidence with the NDS which mightreéevant.

The letter is based on a draft provided by UK odfe We attach no significance to
that, since Dr Saleh has signed up to the asswagigen in it. But we have to
consider, of course, whether those assurances) taite all the other circumstances
of the case, provide a sufficient safeguard abé@toper treatment of transferees.

Recent difficulties have arisen over access to NlBShkar Gah. These are described
below. We mention them here because the then tietek facility, General Naim,
stated in that context on 17 April that Dr Salel@éger of 25 March had not been
provided to him by Kabul and it therefore had nohatity. Confirmation has now
been received, however, that copies of Dr Saleétterd have since been sent to
Laskhar Gah with instructions to allow the UK tgiviUK transferees.

Hand-over documents
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As a footnote to this section, we note the positiath regard to documentation
completed when detainees are transferred by UK @iforees into the custody of the
NDS. At the hearing we were led to understand tivatstandard form of hand-over
document, signed by a representative of the ND8taawed the statement that “By
signing this record the undersigned accepts redpbtyson behalf of the Afghan
authorities for the health and physical conditidrtie above-named individual and
confirms that the human rights of this individuall we respected in accordance with
international law”. In his post-hearing witnesatstnent, however, Mr Burton, head
of legal policy in the operations directorate o tMinistry of Defence, informed the
court that such a form has been in use only sigcAil 2010. Prior to that an old
stock of forms, containing no equivalent statemeats in use.

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE TRANSFER ARRANGEMENTS
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In this section we deal with various issues corniogrimplementation of the transfer
arrangements pursuant to the UK-Afghanistan Molle most important issue is that
of visits by UK officials to check on detaineesrséerred by the UK into the custody
of the NDS. A linked aspect of monitoring is thesue of record-keeping and
notifications of change by the NDS. But before adeal with those issues, we will
consider briefly two other matters covered by thelvinamely transfer on to another
state and access to detainees by the AIHRC and otdependent bodies. The
allegations of ill-treatment of detainees by the IN[ontrary to the obligations
imposed by the MoU are considered in a separatesec
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Paragraph 3 of the MoU obliges the Afghan authesitnot to transfer any persons
handed over by UK forces to other states withoutpJdikr written consent.

In November 2008 UK officials wrote in a letter by Saleh, head of NDS, that the
UK was very concerned that detainees who had baeded over to NDS Kandahar
had then been transferred directly to United Statethorities, contrary to the

provisions of the MoU. It seems that three persaese involved. The head of
international relations at the NDS replied that kmew Dr Saleh took the issue
seriously and he was aware of the importance oMbl. UK authorities drew the

lesson of the need to take steps to re-educat&lfi® about the provisions of the
MoU. There do not appear to have been any latédents of a breach of paragraph
3.

Access by the AIHRC and other independent bodies

136.

137.

138.

139.

140.

The AIHRC is the first party mentioned in paragrdpbf the MoU as needing to have
access to detainees. Certainly in the early daylseoMoU there were difficulties in
respect of such access.

In early May 2007 the AIHRC called a meeting wiSAF representatives to report
that proper access had not been given to it, desipd MoUs between Afghanistan
and some ISAF countries and despite meetings WalNIDS. Later in the month the
AIHRC expressed concern that without a stronger Eabhen in draft — it was not

comfortable that there would be a change in the N@8itude to it, as illustrated by

the NDS in Kandahar the previous week refusing sxte the detainees’ registration
book and hiding a number of detainees on the rothe detention facility when the

AIHRC visited. In early June 2007 the AIHRC redtid its concerns about the
different patterns of access it experienced with MDS and the need to ensure full
access to its monitoring missions at all NDS déberfiacilities.

In its April 2009 report, “Causes of torture in lasnforcement institutions”, the
AIHRC reviewed its own performance regarding tatoases in the previous year. It
noted that most authorities, except national sgcuinad to some extent cooperated
with it in its investigation of cases. Its monitay and follow-up had partially and
gradually decreased torture in some agencies, eregipnal security.

In a briefing for the Foreign Secretary in June 200K officials explained that the
AIHRC had 8 regional offices, 6 provincial officaad over 600 staff. A new office
was currently being established in Lashkar Gahthaednvestigating and monitoring
section there would expand from one to two perswes the following two months.
There were problems in tracking detainees throbghstystem, although this should
be improved with the new tracking database. Theme some capacity issues, given
the large volume of allegations and the AIHRC’su®®n civilian casualties rather
than detainees.

There is evidence before the court of cooperatietwwben UK officials and both the
AIHRC and ICRC regarding detainees. UK forces lady notify the AIHRC and

the ICRC of the details of those transferred toNES. The AIHRC has conveyed its
views of detention conditions to British officials.The ICRC has a policy of



confidentiality and thus does not pass detailst®fvisits. UK officials have also
facilitated a visit by UNAMA to Lashkar Gah deta@se but visits by UNAMA play
little part in the overall history.

UK visits to detainees
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Paragraph 4 of the MoU provides for the accesskfpersonnel to detainees handed
over to the NDS. As early as July 2006 UK ministeecognised that careful
monitoring of the first few cases of individualarsferred from UK forces to the
NDS would provide an insight into whether the systecontemplated by the MoU
were functioning effectively.

From the visit reports which the RMP has completgate 2006, junior counsel for
the claimant prepared a grid during the coursehef hearing. It shows when
individual transferees were visited at NDS Lashiaah, NDS Kabul and NDS
Kandahar, as well as the dates of visits to de¢sineho have been sent to Helmand
Provincial Prison, Pol-i-Charki Prison in Kabul aBdrposa Prison in Kandahar. The
claimant accepted that the grid was incomplete,iadded made a point of the fact
that there was insufficient information in the earide before the court to enable it to
be completed. An amended version of the grid, vadditional information, was
provided to us after the hearing by the Secret&igtate. There remain some points
of doubt or dispute in relation to the grid, and mase not treated it as a definitive
document, but it is a very useful working tool amel are grateful to all concerned for
the effort put into its preparation.

In a briefing dated 30 April 2007, UK officials reat that the RMP endeavoured to
conduct monthly checks on any detainees who had baeded over to the NDS and
remained in NDS custody, and to ascertain whathaggbened to the remainder. The
process was far from straightforward. The earlgois faced difficulties of force
protection for personnel conducting the visits dindgited cooperation from NDS
personnel. Although these problems persisted ekaionship with the local NDS
was gradually being developed. It had to be apaiet that brief and periodic visits
could not provide a comprehensive confidence chetkthe NDS system or
guarantees as to the treatment of detainees.

In anticipation of the November 2007 Amnesty repORetainees transferred to
torture: ISAF complicity?”, a ministerial Q&A doclent on Afghanistan detention
issues dated 31 October 2007 asserted that UKSanc&mbassy staff visited every
detainee who had been transferred from UK custodyirely and regularly and that
any allegation of mistreatment, if received, woblel thoroughly investigated. As
explained below, visits have not always lived uppiactice to the description “routine
and regular”.

UK visitss NDSLashkar Gah
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NDS Lashkar Gah is the facility to which the bufikdetainees captured by UK forces
have been transferred. The first visit to NDS kashGah did not occur until
November 2006. Since then there have been numeisitss generally by the Royal
Military Police (RMP).
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In a witness statement dated 9 November 2009, LtN&al of the Royal Military
Police explains that since 2006 a number of visitdDS Lashkar Gah have had to be
cancelled owing to the threat of improvised explesdevices (IEDs). The NDS
compound lies within a particularly high-risk a@fa_ashkar Gah which is frequently
subjected to a variety of IED and small arms ataakcluding attacks on the NDS
compound itself. In 2009 seven out of the plannawg monthly visits had taken
place. Apart from these constraints, there hagmiegen a problem gaining access to
the detainees in this facility. It is relativelynall and UK-captured detainees have
been readily identified. The relationship with thighan personnel in charge of the
facility is good. In Lashkar Gah the potentiallpstile environment makes it
dangerous to remain at the facility for any lengthime. The practice is therefore to
visit twice or three times a month, sometimes sgaiproportion of the detainees on
each occasion.

As to the character of the visits, Lt-Col Neal s#yat in conducting a visit the RMP
aim to see all detainees subject to the securibgtcaints. The process for visiting
has become more formalised and visit reports haea Iprepared by RMP personnel,
summarising the visit and which detainees have n and which have been
released. During a visit, RMP personnel ask eagthigee a number of standard
guestions regarding their welfare and treatmerttis 15 usually in the presence of a
prison guard. However, those conducting the visdtge noted that the detainees have
not seemed to be intimidated by the presence ofgtteeds. RMP personnel also
record whether the detainee appears to be phygsieall.

In his witness statements, Barry Burton of the Bty of Defence concedes that
some of the claimant’s criticism of monitoring ¥ssare well made but states that they
are explained by conditions in Afghanistan. Asptivate visits he says that, at
Lashkar Gah, the visits are in private insofarhesuisit party is able to go to the cells
and speak to prisoners via an interpreter. HoweM&S guards remain in the
background to provide protection as the visit pastyot allowed to retain loaded
weapons within the facility and the NDS does nddvalthe visit party to wander
unaccompanied amongst potentially dangerous persddstainees do not appear
intimidated by the guards and questions are alvemgwvered in a friendly, jovial
environment. When prisoners are asked to liftrtbleithing so that the RMP can see
if there is any indication of abuse or rough treatinthey readily comply.

Mr Burton concedes that capacity and security caimgs have meant that recently
the RMP have not been able to conduct individurinews but have only been able
to see detainees in groups. On some occasionsh#weybeen seen in the communal
areas of the facility, and on other occasions tneye been seen in their cells. When
detainees have been seen in their cell for forateption reasons the RMP have
remained outside the cell and spoken to the prisatheough the safe handling hatch.
NDS guards, although present for force protectiarppses, remain out of earshot.
The high number of detainees is such that spacerislimited and there is currently
no private room available at Lashkar Gah. The gufieng security situation limits the
amount of time the visiting team can spend in #wlity. Countering the insurgency
has been increasingly effective, resulting in awghoin the number of insurgents
being transferred to the Afghan authorities forgae@ution. In addition the influx of
US forces in Helmand Province has also added suimtg to the numbers of
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insurgents detained. Lashkar Gah has the capaaityally to hold 60 prisoners but
at times during 2010 the number of detainees hesesbed 100.

Mr Burton explains that the dramatic rise in themiwer of detainees and force
protection issues have also had the effect of ieduthe number of occasions on
which any one detainee is interviewed prior to rthrelease or, if convicted, their
transfer to prison. Over the six months until Ma&010 visits took place not less
than fortnightly and individuals were questioned such visits about once in every
eight weeks.

Mr Burton’s second statement also draws attentoretent difficulties encountered
in gaining access to NDS Lashkar Gah. On 17 Fep2@10 the head of the facility,
General Naim, refused the RMP access to detaimaesférred by UK forces. In a
report the RMP noted that it did not know the realsot believed it was due to issues
with space and the inundation of visitors suchh&sICRC turning up unannounced
and demanding to see the detainees. There digppatar to be any malign intent and
all the detainees who were seen, exercising arttleim cells, were clean, well and
appeared to be in good health. Five days lateRt® were offered the opportunity
to undertake welfare checks but were unable ta thait day. They met no problem
gaining access to detainees when they visited agai?8 February 2010. The RMP
saw detainees in a group environment on 2 Marcl® 2@ithout any difficulty, but
had limited time that day for security reasons.e Tdcus of the visit was on capacity
issues.

The UK Force Provost Marshal visited the NDS fagilat Lashkar Gah for a
familiarisation visit on 13 March 2010 and spen@il5 minutes walking around the
entire facility. She could see all the detaineeali their cells. They appeared to be
in good health, although it was apparent that #udify was holding more detainees
than intended.

On 6 April 2010, the RMP sought to undertake welfaisits but were told that there
were personnel from Kabul undertaking checks omidees and it was not possible
that day.

On 10 April 2010, during a visit, the RMP askedNiDS investigator if they could

see the detainees. The NDS investigator said hddwtave to ask General Naim.
When the investigator returned, he said that Géaiam was away and his deputy
had said that he could not give authorisation.

On 17 April 2010, General Naim personally refudeel RMP access to the detainees.
The visit report records that General Naim demartddchow why the RMP wanted
to see them and what the purpose of it was, sayiaghe would tell the RMP how
the detainees were and there was no need to see tlibe RMP showed General
Naim a copy of Dr Saleh’s letter of 25 March 201Beneral Naim said that since it
had not been provided to him by Kabul it had ndatrity.

In view of these developments, a “fragmentary drdexs issued to the commander in
UK forces responsible for detention. The orderligdpto any personnel in theatre
who might have involvement in the transfer or sgosst monitoring of the treatment
of UK captured detainees. It stressed the neemsare that the conditions set out in
the MoU and Dr Saleh’s letter of 25 March 2010 wegerously applied. UK forces
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were to treat the monitoring of the welfare of Uldptured detainees as a high
priority.

In a statement made after the hearing, Mr Burtcotatgd the court on the position at
Lashkar Gah. He states that the situation hasowepk notably. Officials at the
British Embassy in Kabul have confirmed that Drebahas sent copies of his letter of
25 March 2010 to NDS Lashkar Gah with instructibmsallow the UK to visit UK
transferees. Further, General Naim is no longadha the facility. His deputy is
acting head; information about the appointment ofew head is awaited. There is
separate evidence that General Naim has movedkéootizer as head of the NDS in
Kandahar and that little is known about the newdhe& NDS Lashkar Gah
(presumably the acting head to whom Mr Burton sfe¢hough he has strong links in
Kabul and was previously head of the NDS in Faralvipce.

Visits to UK transferees at Lashkar Gah are nowntaklace on a regular basis. On 3
May the Brigade Provost Officer (“the BPQO”) visitetk such detainees. Because of
time spent on mentoring and liaison discussions, t#we time taken to locate the
individual detainees, only 20 minutes were avadatd see them and it was not
possible to see them in private. All six were sehvidually in the NDS deputy’s
office, and they were each asked a number of quressti They all appeared to be in
good health.

On 10 May the BPO made a further visit. Two furtbetainees, including one who
had been transferred since 3 May, were seen omtession. The BPO interviewed
them both in private, in an empty corridor out igfhs and out of earshot of any NDS
officials or any other detainees. They appearedrchnd in good health.

There continue to be capacity issues at Lashkar &ah result of which a number of
UK transferees who are still at the pre-trial sthgee been transferred by the NDS to
the provincial prison at Lashkar Gah. Fifteen ohetes were visited at the prison on 6
May. They were seen individually but not fully pmivate (owing to the need for
assistance from the administrator in identifyingadleees), though it is anticipated that
there should be no difficulty in securing that fetunterviews take place in private.
Three UK transferees were visited on 9 May at theenile detention facility in
Lashkar Gah. They were seen individually, in asgge room, without any NDS
officials present.

Mr Burton states that recent events reinforce Iesvvthat the access difficulties in
April were not an attempt by the NDS to avoid soybf its treatment of detainees
but were the result of genuine capacity problemgtathe NDS. He notes that none
of the transferees seen by UK personnel in recisits reported any mistreatment or
exhibited readily visible signs of injury or misatenent.

UK visitss NDS Kandahar

162.

Effective transfers to NDS Kandahar did not comneeunwtil October 2008 (there is
some doubt about two earlier transfers). The @sgidhiead of legal policy in the
operations directorate at the Ministry of Defenkgls, Akiwumi, says in a statement
for the court that the RMP have had no difficultygaining access to detainees at
Kandahar providing the security situation allowsrthto travel to the facilities in the
first place. When conducting interviews the RMReap to detainees without the



163.

164.

presence of the Afghan authorities and the RMPsatisfied that if a detainee wishes
to raise a complaint they have the opportunitydasd. In his statement Lt-Col Neal
explains the poor security situation at the NDSlitgcat Kandahar. It was so poor
that no visits could take place between April andyést 2009.

In mid-June 2009 a detainee visited at Pol-i-Charison alleged that he had been
mistreated by the NDS while in detention at NDS #a@mar (see below). As a result
of that allegation, a moratorium was imposed oihtr transfers to Kandahar. The
moratorium was formally lifted in February 2010} Imo further transfers have in fact
been made to Kandahar. Following the impositiorthef moratorium there was due
to be a visit in July 2009, but that was preveriiga suicide attack on the front gate.
There were visits in August and September 2009roddghout 2009, however, the

number of UK transferees at Kandahar was very sthalCol Neal states that the

number had reduced to five by January 2009, andivallwere seen in September
2009); and the most up-to-date evidence beforecdlet is that no visits have been
undertaken recently because there are now no Ulsfereees at the facility.

Following circulation of a draft of this judgment iaccordance with normal
procedures, the court’s attention was drawn to maod qualifications to the matters
set out at paras 162-163 above (and a visit repadvertently omitted from the
Secretary of State’s previous disclosure was se@pio us). As appears from the
amended grid referred to at para 142, no UK traestehave been held at the NDS
facility in Kandahar since April 2009, and visitg DK personnel to Kandahar since
April 2009 have been made not to the NDS facility to Sarposa prison, to which
relevant detainees formerly held at the NDS faciiad been transferred post-trial.
Private interviews with such detainees at Sarposamp took place from August or
September 2009 at the latest. There were no prinérviews with detainees at the
NDS facility during the period when UK visits warede to that facility.

UK visits: NDSKabul
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The first clearly recorded visit to detainees atSNBRabul did not occur until 30
August 2008. This was by a British Embassy offigido spent an hour, in private,
with two “missing” detainees who had been transirthere without the Afghan
authorities giving the required notification. Thest visit by the RMP to NDS Kabul
occurred later in the year, on 20 October 2008.

Thereafter the NDS refused access to UK detainekksih NDS Kabul. It proved
impossible at that time to resolve the positiors aresult, in December 2008 the UK
imposed a moratorium on transfers there (arrangesm@oceeded normally at that
time in Kandahar and Lashkar Gah).

Agreement on a resumption of access was reachEdhdruary 2009, on the basis of
joint visits with the Dutch. Before a visit coul arranged, however, UK officials
were informed that the eight UK transferees at NCG®ul had been moved by the
NDS to Pol-i-Charki prison. During subsequenttgiso the prison, allegations were
made of ill-treatment at NDS Kabul. The decisioaswthen taken not to seek
ministerial permission to resume transfers to Kabatil investigations into the
allegations had been completed and any requigitieciuaction had been taken.
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In the event the moratorium on transfers to NDS W{dlas continued, subject to one
exception. In January 2010 the decision was ta&eallow the transfer there of one
high profile UK-captured detainee. There weraahdifficulties in gaining access to
him, but since access was allowed he has beepdisitery two weeks.

UK visits: non-NDS prisons
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Although the focus has been on visits to the NDSlifi@s to which detainees are
transferred by the UK, there have also been visitdelmand provincial prison (see
[158] above) and to Pol-i-Charki prison in Kabul,garticular to check on transferees
who had been sent on there by the NDS.

British Embassy officials requested in March 200@ttvisits to Pol-i-Charki be
conducted in private, and that has happened sumoe 2009. To the criticisms that
prisoners are not viewed in their cells there, @irad visits are announced in advance,
Mr Burton of the Ministry of Defence replies thdtet prison has some 4,500
prisoners, who are housed in blocks of 50 to 1@&bpers. A cell visit would require
the entire block to be shut down. Unannouncedsvisould also be disruptive, since
prisoners would need to be located, which woul@ t@tke. The more time spent, the
greater the risk that insurgents can prepare atkatr lay improvised explosive
devices. One of the two routes to Pol-i-Charksgni is through a hostile village.

Record-keeping and notifications of change
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Paragraph 5 of the MoU obliges the Afghan authesito keep records of the transfer
to alternative holding facilities and of the prasgen status of detainees. These
records are to be available on request. The UK s informed prior to prosecution
and release of detainees and of any material chamg&cumstances regarding a
detainee.

A UK record tracking detainees was only begun imilAp007. Now there is a pro
forma document used on hand-over of detaineesetdNiDS. The practice has been
adopted of recording a detainee’s name, as wehatsof his father and grandfather,
which assists in the tracking process. At the toh#he hearing the location of only a
few UK detainees was unknown. The position ovareti however, is that real
difficulties have been encountered in keeping trackvhere detainees are and what
has happened to them.

Mr Burton explains in a witness statement that piedure for detainee transfers is
complicated by the lack of an electronic trackingsteam. The UK identifies

insurgents by the reference number assigned whmegsed through UK detention.
The Afghans assign these prisoners a referencehwbkiadrawn from their own

system. This means that the Afghan authoritiesm@aalways easily identify which

prisoners the UK wishes to see.

In his statement Lt-Col Neal tells the court tleatdting UK captured detainees at Pol-
i-Charki Prison can be problematic, given the sizéhe prison and the paper record
system. The situation had improved and the lonatib UK detainees was better
known to the prison governor and guards.
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In another witness statement for the court, thedJ#€puty ambassador in Kabul, Mr
Dodd, acknowledges that the Afghan system in gémerks the capacity and ability

to track detainees effectively. The task is natisded by the fact that detainees
sometimes give false names. He notes that Afgteanidoes not have an effective
system for registering births, marriages or deathshat it is not surprising that the
system for recording detainees is imperfect. Hes $hat improvements have been
made since transfers began, capacity continues niprove, and a recent,

internationally-sponsored project aims to captur®rimation on the entire prison

population.

In a meeting with the UK Secretary of State for @wfe in March 2010 the head of
the NDS, Dr Saleh, was asked about the transfedetdinees between facilities
without the knowledge of UK authorities. Dr Salelxplained that the NDS
sometimes had to transfer detainees between Kandhbhshkar Gah and Kabul
because individuals could be subject to tribal gues if they stayed in one location.

There is evidence of the UK forces taking activepstto pursue the matter when
detainees disappear within the system. Thus in Ry the RMP found that NDS

Kandahar were unable to trace two detainees whadobed transferred there. After
an investigation over many months, the inferenesvdrwas that they had escaped in
transit to Kandahar. It was not possible to sagtivér a bribe was paid to facilitate
the escape.

In May 2007 two detainees were handed over to NBshkar Gah. Subsequently, in
June 2007, following a request for assistance fitoeenNDS, they were transferred to
NDS Kabul via a British helicopter, although thrbogt they remained in Afghan
custody. After that there were numerous attenptsdate and visit these detainees.
The Afghan authorities refused to provide detaflsheir whereabouts. The ICRC
reported that they had seen the detainees. HowaWdK visit to Pol-i-Charki prison
proved fruitless. Finally, the detainees were tedaand in late August 2007 were
visited.

In 2009 a number of UK detainees who had previobglgn transferred into NDS
custody were eventually located at Pol-i-Charks@n. When visited there, several of
them made allegations that they had been ill-tckbtethe NDS: those allegations are
considered in the next section. In the case ofadrieem, prisoner B, further tracking
difficulties were encountered after he had beeitedsat Pol-i-Charki, and he has not
been seen since (see [200]-[201] below).

In late 2009, NDS Kabul helped track another de®iwho was believed to have
been transferred to Kabul in 2007 and had been fodlwiving conviction in Pol-i-
Charki prison but could not be traced. It emerget the UK authorities had been
unable to locate him because he had given a faseenwhen captured and was
recorded under his real name in the prison.

Transfers between NDS facilities

181.

As appears from the account above, difficultiestraccking detainees have arisen
where detainees have been transferred by the ND@ fne facility to another
without the knowledge of the UK. One of the mattee have to consider in this case
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concerns the possibility of internal transfers by NDS circumventing a moratorium
on transfers by the UK to a particular NDS facility

It was made clear at the hearing that, where atoxauan is imposed on UK transfers
to a particular facility, it is also UK policy to ithhold assistance to the NDS for
internal transfers to that facility from elsewhereln his post-hearing witness
statement Mr Burton observes that the absencesidtasce is of obvious practical
importance given the dangers of travel by road ifghanistan and notably in
Helmand province. He accepts that such a tramsfeld be undertaken without the
assistance of UK armed forces but he is not awérang UK captured detainees
having been transferred between the relevant lmesitwithout such assistance. He
also points to the assurance in Dr Saleh’s letfe2® March 2010 that prior
notification of internal transfers will be givennag he expresses the belief that it is
highly likely in any event that, given the UK’s cent arrangements for updating the
detainee database, the UK would quickly learn gfsrch transfer. Should a transfer
take place, arrangements would be put in placensure that the detainee was
monitored pre-trial.

In contrast to the views expressed by Mr Burtorg thaimant’s submissions in
respect of the post-hearing disclosure draw atientd an apparent example of the
transfer of detainees between Lashkar Gah and Kandg the NDS alone in April
2007; to the recent acknowledgment by Dr Saleh tioeed above, that the NDS has
sometimes had to transfer detainees between tlevardl facilities; and to a
suggestion in the documents that the current overting at NDS Lashkar Gah
might be alleviated by the transfer of some prissfi®m there to NDS Kabul.

Recent and future developments relevant to moniagri
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One of the points made in Mr Burton'’s first withesatement is that improvements in
the facilities and capabilities of the Afghan autties will assist in the effective

monitoring of UK-captured detainees. In that catiom he describes major
initiatives in progress to deliver improved detentifacilities, including in particular

the construction of a new facility in Parwan whihexpected to achieve initial
operating capability in the first quarter of 201lddato house in due course all
insurgents captured in Afghanistan. We have nategmto the detail of such

developments because they do not affect the imneegi@sition concerning transfers
of UK-captured detainees into Afghan custody.

Mr Burton states that pending those changes t#fgkean system the UK has taken
various steps to address issues of access to, amdtonng of, UK-captured
detainees. We have already touched on most oéthieps. There is, however, one
additional recent change which we should mention.

In his first statement Mr Burton says that as thenber of UK transferees in NDS
custody has increased over the years it has be@wdent that visits cannot be
sustained at the current frequency by staff inttleeand that a dedicated visits team
is therefore being formed, which will allow moreedquent visits. In his second
statement he provides more information about thendtion of that team, now
referred to as the “Detainee Oversight Team”. Adate April 2010 the team
consisted, on an interim basis, of the Force PiiomMasshal and the Brigade Provost
Officer, together with support staff. It was exjgetthat within about four weeks the



team would be at full operating capability, follawgi on-going training and
preparation and the arrival of new team membersyea group captain and including
a policeman, a lawyer and additional support, idicig medical support. The team
would be dedicated to monitoring the welfare of C&ptured detainees. One of its
first tasks would be to consider what further im@ments could be made to the
monitoring process.

THE ALLEGATIONS BY UK TRANSFEREES

187.

In this section we examine allegations made byrabar of UK transferees that they
have been subjected to serious mistreatment whitbe custody of the NDS. We
also refer to reports by the NDS on investigatioasried out into some of those
allegations.

Prisoner X: Lashkar Gah
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X was detained in June 2007. According to a sulssiogeport he had been captured
with two other persons who were in possession ohest rig, ammunition and an
AK47 variant. He was transferred to NDS Lashkah.Gahe RMP saw him there on
four occasions: 27 June 2007, 21 July 2007; 6 Augd@7 and 23 August 2007. The
visit reports state that he appeared well. Whé&edse did not complain of being ill-
treated, feeling unwell or needing medication. ®o of these occasions, in the
presence of NDS guards, he said that he was poold & member of the Taliban and
had come to Afghanistan via Pakistan to fight aildBtitish and American forces.
On three of the four visits he was seen by the sameber of the RMP, Cpl
Broadhurst. Another member of the RMP, Cpl Paak present at all four visits.

During a visit in mid September to NDS Lashkar Gapl Broadhurst was informed
that X had been sentenced to ten years in prisdrhad been transferred to Lashkar
Gah prison, where he would serve his sentence. 2®rSeptember 2007, Cpl
Broadhurst visited X in Helmand provincial prisonh laashkar Gah. X told Cpl
Broadhurst that he had confessed to being a Talilggmter as a result of being
subjected to electric shocks and being beaten.aiX that metal clamps had been
attached to parts of his body. He gestured tofdrsarms, upper body and chest,
where he said electricity was passed through f@iseonds.

On 9 October 2007 Cpl Broadhurst interviewed X ashkar Gah prison. When Cpl
Broadhurst asked him why during the four RMP visitdNDS Lashkar Gah, he had
not mentioned the mistreatment, he said he wagddaat he would be beaten. He
said that he had been beaten with an electric cableut a metre long and one inch
thick. He was beaten by the commander, a smath&at. He still had marks on his
back. He said six other prisoners, who had sulesgtyubeen released, had been
present at the time of the beatings. As to theteteshocks, he said that wires had
been attached to his legs from a “thermometer” nmech He said he had been
electrocuted six times, lasting 6-10 seconds eswh, tand then two days later, the
same again. He said that he had not sustainedveilyie injury from the
electrocution. He said he would not recognisesibidiers’ voices since they did not
talk. He had signed a confession, but the cordassas not his words.

That day X was medically examined by Captain EkthlBarnaby, a medical officer
stationed at Lashkar Gah. Captain Barnaby is difigaa medical practitioner
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registered with the General Medical Council of GrBdtain. She records that she
was told by X that the device used to administectelc shocks had been attached to
his ankles. She examined his ankles, feet, andtsvand found no evidence of
bruising or scarring. Her conclusion was that hweiit forensic training, there is no
evidence to support or deny the allegations ofextilgns to electric shock”. During
the examination by Captain Barnaby X also madereafee to having been beaten
with an electricity cable, approximately 1 inch drameter and 1 metre in length
across his back. That had occurred around threghm@go. On examination of X’s
back Captain Barnaby found that the skin was intaith no evidence of bruising or
scarring.

In a report on the case on 10 October 2007 Majondvly, the UK’s senior legal
adviser stationed in Lashkar Gah, observed thae tivere flaws in X’s allegations,
which started to undermine their credibility. Hoxge he did not think that the
investigation had been completed in sufficient illd@ be able to say with any
reasonable certainty that the allegations werecregtible, and he proposed that X be
re-interviewed and photographs of his back and emnkibtained. Copies of the
detention record and medical report from X’'s timeUK detention should also be
obtained, along with the records of the other prese X said were present. Major
Mynors did not consider it practicable or safertteiview them. He noted that once
further information was obtained it could be senthite UK for an expert pathologist’s
report as to whether the descriptions of the bgatand electrocutions rang true, and
what physical effects could be expected from X'soamt.

Major Mynors interviewed X himself on 29 OctobeHe was accompanied by Sgt
Ower RMP and Major Johnson, a military doctor. adtMajor Mynors that he had
not signed a confession but had made a print wiHihger. X had not complained
earlier for fear of further abuse. X said thatwes electrocuted twice for about 10
seconds on one day. He said the electricity caoma &bout 10 metres away. Asked
how he could say this if he was blindfolded, X eththat he could hear a crackling
sound. He said he had suffered bruising aftergobaaten but there were no marks
from either the beating or electrocution sinceeid fbeen four months ago.

In a statement dated 30 October 2007 Major Johmsported that X had said,
through an interpreter, that he had been strucketwhn the back by a cable, and had
received electric shocks through electrodes atththéis ankles. X stated that he did
not think that there were any lasting marks of ¢hegents on his body. In the course
of his examination Major Johnson paid specificrattn to the back and ankle areas.
He closely examined areas where X indicated hebleadh struck with the cable, but
Major Johnson was unable to see any significantisgaor marks. Nor were there
visible marks around the ankles. Major Johnsomahasbme small scars on the feet
which he felt were not related, and which were afvasn the areas indicated. Major
Johnson told X that he would be putting his finding a statement for the RMP. X
made no objection.

The ICRC, the AIHRC and ISAF headquarters wererméal of X’s allegations. The
ministerial Q&A document prepared in response ®AmMnesty report of November
2007 said that X’s allegations did not appear d&redi The view taken at the Ministry
of Defence’s Permanent Joint Headquarters in theediingdom was that there was
no evidence to support X's allegations and thabmsistencies in X’'s account
undermined the credibility of his allegation. Irs Istatement for these proceedings



Major Mynors says the tiny scar on X was the sasstpeople have from childhood
activities. There was no visible evidence of sogrbut X had insisted that there was.
Another factor going to credibility was that X maalstatement concerning the nature
of the machine used to electrocute him althoughl&iened he was blindfolded at the
time. Overall, Major Mynors concludes in the staémt that he did not find the
account to be credible.

Prisoner A: NDS Kabul

196. A was detained by UK forces on 17 September 20@8hamded over to the NDS on
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20 September 2008. He was first visited on 20 REt®008 at NDS Kabul. The
usual pro forma questions were put to him. He nraallegations of ill-treatment at
that point. The standard interview was about 1Qutes. At some point A was
transferred to Pol-i-Charki prison, without notime UK forces. This was at a time
when access to NDS Kabul was denied. On 2 Mar€@® BEMP Sgt Allen visited A
at Pol-i-Charki prison with a British Embassy oiffic When question 17 of the pro
forma questions was put to him, Sgt Allen splintb two parts, given the fact that A
had been transferred without notice. To the fiest, A said that he was happy with
Pol-i-Charki, although he was not happy about beémgrison. When asked about
other complaints the interpreter replied that Adshiat he had been ill-treated. He
was then asked what he meant by ill-treated, tachvthe translated answer was that
he had been beaten. Prison guards were presehé dime but A did not seem
intimidated by their presence. He did not seengredted in pushing this matter
further. No more clarification was forthcoming.isthppearance showed no signs of
ill-treatment.

At subsequent visits to Pol-i-Charki prison on 9riRpnd 15 June 2009, A gave
further details of the alleged ill-treatment at NDSpartment 17. On the visit of 9
April he said that the beatings consisted of bgmmched, kicked and hit with

objects, although he could not elaborate on whpe tyf objects they were. The
beatings occurred at night time; he was therefar@ble to describe his attackers,
including their rank or names. As a result of ¢hbeatings he suffered bruising to his
legs which had now gone. He stated that there weavebeatings. When asked why
he had not reported these beatings to the RMP 0®@@0ber 2008, when welfare

checks were conducted, he stated that they toae @éer their visit. When asked if
he was content for his name and account to be divehe Director General of the

NDS he confirmed that he was.

On the visit of 15 June 2009, A identified the membf the NDS Department who
conducted the beatings. He believed him to behded of Department 17. The
reason was that his brother was killed and he vasibg A for the killing. The
beatings went on for a period of 2%2 months. Thatibgs were frequent and took
place underground. There were other prisoners wéi@ also beaten, including a
friend. When beaten, A’s hands were tied and therwould be hung from the
ceiling. During the visit A spoke freely while bg questioned and gave further
detail about the beatings and possible attack#rsvas believed that the reason for
this was that the prison guards were not in therew room. A also stated that he
did not want a complaint to be passed on for ingagbn. This was a change since
the visit in April.
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The NDS were informed of the allegation on 20 ARD09, and subsequently
conducted an investigation. The NDS informed thiéidh Embassy on 5 May 2009
that the investigation had been completed and bwawldf that there was no evidence to
substantiate this allegation. Because A had watlvdr permission, further
information provided during the visit on 15 Juneilcbnot be shared with the NDS.
The RMP thought that the NDS had taken the allegatseriously but the short time
for the investigation, and the lack of a final regpded to concerns. In line with
standard practice, the ICRC was notified of A’segdtion of mistreatment. It was
partly because of A’s allegations that the moratorimposed on transfers to NDS
Kabul was continued in April 2009.

Prisoner B: NDS Kabul
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B, an Afghan, was detained in Kabul on 3 Decemb@82and transferred to the NDS
the following day. B was not seen when on 2 Ma?2€09 the RMP and British
Embassy officials visited Pol-i-Charki prison armwvsa number of other detainees
such as A. He was at court that day. Howevervae seen during the 9 April visit,
when he raised allegations of mistreatment whild@$ Department 17. The alleged
mistreatment involved being put in stress positiamsl being subjected to sleep
deprivation. When he was seen at Pol-i-Charkietlveere no signs of mistreatment
although that was not regarded as conclusive. dBhdt want the matter raised with
the NDS. There was a prison guard in the roorhatitne of the visit. As with other
prisoners, B did not appear intimidated by the disgpresence.

B was not seen during visits to Pol-i-Charki onaltl 16 June 2009. On 28 July the
prison governor said that he was not in the prison.6 September 2009 he could not
be located, although a junior officer said thatwees in Block 4, but could not be
found. On 19 September the UK team was told thha®& been transferred to NDS
Department 17 for further investigation. Infornoatiwvas subsequently received that
he had in fact been released in July 20009.

Prisoner C: NDS Kabul
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C, an Afghan, was detained in Helmand on 17 SepterB008 and handed over to
the NDS three days later. He was next seen dariRgl-i-Charki prison visit on 15
June 2009 when he made allegations of mistreatatddDS Kabul. The allegations
included that he had been hung from the ceilinghoge days and nights, and that he
had been beaten and subjected to electric shddksgave a description of the man
alleged to have carried out the electrocution, @nmaight the person was second in
command of the facility. C did not have visiblascbut the physical evidence was
considered inconclusive because the alleged intidlad occurred many months
previously. He gave consent for the allegationdedoraised with the NDS. They
were also raised with the ICRC and the AIHRC.

As with A, B and D, UK officials did not dismiss €allegations out of hand. The
allegations by all four had been raised on the ficcasion they had been seen by the
RMP on the visits in March, April and June 2009Rol-i-Charki prison. These
prison visits took place 4-6 months after the detas were transferred to the NDS,
and once they were in Pol-i-Charki. There had baetenial of access to NDS
Department 17 between October 2008 and Februar§.200June 2009 UK officials
observed internally that the current allegationset the question, whether, contrary



to what the NDS had told them, capacity problemeevtiee only reason for the denial
of access to Department 17 during that period. yBigo observed that prison guards
were not present when the detainees were seengdilmn15 June 2009 visit, and
perhaps that was why the detainees seen that dagivien more details. Only A had

named an alleged perpetrator, although B gave @igigen. The person A named as
the perpetrator was believed to have been dismss®e@ three months previously.

Prisoner D: NDS Kandahar/Kabul

204.
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D made his complaint on 15 June 2009, against N[@SaBment 17 in Kabul and
NDS Kandahar, when seen by a British Embassy affend the RMP on their third
visit to Pol-i-Charki prison in Kabul. D had bedeatained by UK forces in Helmand
on 8 October 2008 and transferred to the NDS o@®dtbber 2008.

When D made the allegations on 15 June his coriedmving his complaint passed
on could not be clarified due to an interruption tg prison guard. The RMP
returned on 16 June and this time D gave consamising general details, but not his
name, with the NDS and ICRC. Both the NDS and ICR&e informed of the
general details of the matter on 16 June. On 62009, D gave clarification that he
gave consent for general details of the complairive raised with the NDS, but he
also gave consent for his name and general ddtailee given to the ICRC, the
AIHRC and other Afghan authorities. He confirméwhtt he had not seen anyone
from the ICRC or the NDS since the allegations werade. Subsequently, D
withdrew his consent for the NDS to be notifiedtlud allegation. Consequently, D’s
allegations did not feature in the 2010 NDS inygggton report to which we refer
below.

D’s allegations on 15 June 2009 in relation to NKehdahar were that he had been
beaten “a little bit”, although subsequently hedghat he had been hit by a rifle butt.
It was as a result of D’s allegations on 23 Jun@92bat a moratorium was imposed
on the transfer of UK detainees to NDS Kandahar.

D’s allegations against NDS Department 17 were nsereous: he had been beaten
“a lot” and electrocuted four or five times. Heutw not identify the culprits since he

was blindfolded throughout. D was in the sameaprislock as others making abuse
allegations, but the RMP commented in their repbat despite the stories being
similar enough to be consistent they were not toula as to arouse suspicions of
having been “corroborated” or made-up.

D’s allegations in respect of NDS Department 1Ke lthose of prisoners A to C,
related to a period when UK officials were refusentess to the facility: he was
visited there in October 2008, but it was the rafud access thereafter that led to the
imposition, in December 2008, of a moratorium oe transfer of UK detainees to
NDS Kabul.

Prisoner E: NDS Lashkar Gah

209.

E, a Pakistani national, was detained by UK tromp$ielmand in July 2007. He
subsequently said that he had no complaints abeut/K forces and had been treated
well by them during 15 days detention by them @etf UK forces say that E’s
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detention was only 2 days). E was then transfetweNDS Lakshar Gah. He was
seen by the RMP on 6 August, 23 August and 16 Sdqe

The reason E was seen on 16 September was thatUs§itkar Gah had asked for
UK forces to assist transfer four detainees, indgd, to NDS Kabul. The RMP
prepared a note about their escort to Kabul on @3e®nber 2007. The detainees
remained in NDS custody throughout, but were eedofly the RMP. All four
detainees were walking and in good health, althdaeytause of time constraints there
was no medical examination. The NDS officers, detainees, Cpl Barker of the
RMP and an interpreter travelled first by helicogteCamp Bastion, the main British
base, north-west of Lashkar Gah. They were thkentdy two Land Rovers to the
temporary detention facility there. That facililad RMP guards. Five hours later,
once it was evening, they were transferred to aradt for the flight to Kabul, via
Kandahar. In Kabul the detainees were handedtowdDS Kabul in good health.

Two years later, on 6 September 2009, E was visitdeol-i-Charki prison in Kabul
by representatives of the RMP and the British Ersypakabul. E said that British
Forces had detained him for 15 days. He was ttasferred to NDS Lashkar Gah
where he was held for 2 months and 15 days. Aghdt said that he had not been
treated badly at the facility, he alleged that Xl heeen raped there by a high level
NDS officer. He also alleged that he, E, had desaten by NDS personnel — initially
he said they were from the Afghan army but therhenged his mind — when being
transferred in a four car convoy from NDS LashkahGo Camp Bastion before
being flown to Kabul. He said that he was beatgmvbapons and sticks. One blow
had landed on his forehead and he had passedHmiguards had also tried to cut his
wrist with an object which, from the descriptionaynhave been a bayonet. His
nerves were still affected. E said that there magarticular mistreatment at NDS
Department 17 in Kabul. The NDS officers had meré&thouted and used
investigative techniques” and he had no complaimhake against them. E gave his
consent to raise the allegation, including his name the full details, with the NDS,
other Afghan authorities, the ICRC and the AIHREe said he had already been
visited by the ICRC and had shared these allegatiotin them.

On 11 September UK officials decided that the mateeded further investigation.
On 19 September E was visited again at Pol-i-Charison and interviewed in a
room, not a cell, by a senior procurator fiscaludegdrom Scotland, on secondment to
the Foreign and Commonwealth Office, and by thecseritish Embassy official
who had seen him on 6 September. They prepareplaatrof the visit. E said he had
been convicted by the primary court, Kabul, andtesred to 5 years 6 months
custody. Again E had no complaint about his treatmat Pol-i-Charki prison or by
British forces when he was captured in 2007.

However, E now said that when being transferreanfr@ British camp to NDS
Lashkar Gah by the NDS, he was beaten on the he#tklNDS officers. He had a
scar on his head because of that. The report loétdbeing struck by a firearm could
not be discounted as the cause of the L-shapedEsesnibited. E also said that every
night of the 20 days of investigation at NDS Lash&ah he had been beaten by the
NDS chief investigator on the head, on the wrist an the back. His wrist injury had
been caused by a knife attached to the end of a#i7AKle gave a description of the
chief investigator. He had been beaten on the didekwith a cable, about 75 cm
long, on some three or four occasions, 50-100 tichesg each incident. The chief
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investigator had also used a gun to strike himwals in a lot of pain and had trouble
sleeping because of the injury to his back. He leh injured badly and his back
had bled. These injuries took two or three mombhlseal. The report noted that the
scar across his back and on his wrist did not sgmmistent with his account.

After E left NDS custody, on his account he wastaky vehicle to Lashkar Gah by
British forces and then to Kabul by helicopter tarne (he was unable to distinguish
between the two). He was flown to Kabul with twiber Afghans. There were thirty
or thirty-five people, including British forces, dhe flight and another NDS officer
accompanied him to Kabul, where he was handedtowdDS prosecutors.

British officials decided that E’s allegations waret credible. His accounts were
inconsistent and, as regards abuse on the jouoniéghiul, if it had occurred the RMP
escort would have observed it or evidence of ivds co-located at Pol-i-Charki with
D.

Prisoner G: Lashkar Gah
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Allegations by prisoner G of ill-treatment at LashkGah emerged at a late stage,
during a UK visit to Pol-i-Charki on 24 November(0 He had not been seen on
previous visits to the prison. His allegations evéinat while in detention at NDS

Lashkar Gah in July 2007 he had been beaten vati sids on his back and legs for
six consecutive nights, and that this was the amlgson why he had made a
confession. He claimed to be able to identify pleepetrators. He gave permission
for the matter to be raised with the NDS, the IC&@ the AIHRC. He said that he

had previously notified the ICRC and the AIHRC dgria visit in late 2007 but had

heard nothing since.

The credibility of G’s allegations is not accepteyl the Secretary of State, but it
seems that no final conclusion has been reachedt abem. The allegations were
raised with the NDS. Save for the provision oftaier information about him,
however, G was not considered in the NDS’s 3 ApdiLO report on the allegations
made by UK transferees (see below).

The NDS'’s investigations and report
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We have referred above to the short investigataned out by the NDS into the first
of the allegations to emerge from the visits to-iFGharki prison in mid 2009
(prisoner A). As further allegations emerged, andhe extent that detainees gave
consent for the allegations to be raised with tH@SNthe NDS was requested to
investigate them as fully as possible. After sopressure, the NDS gave an
assurance in July 2009 that it would conduct adod transparent investigation.

What eventually emerged from the NDS, after a lortgrval and further pressure
from UK officials, was a three page report datedil 2010. The report recorded
that the leadership of the NDS took the issue lefgald mistreatment very seriously
and tasked a team to carry out the investigatiam,the investigation process faced
some challenges because of “the unfortunate badriseand other means of
problems in Helmand and Pol-e-Charkhi prison”.
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The report dealt very briefly with four allegatioagainst the NDS in Sangin district,
Helmand province, recording that three of the daetes had denied making, or had
dismissed, allegations of mistreatment, and thahecase of the fourth, who had
been released, the allegation could not be trackds not clear what these four
allegations were. The report then gave informa#isrio the whereabouts of two UK
transferees, namely B and G, before turning tatlegations by A, C and E.

In relation to A, the report recorded that he dénmaking any allegation of
mistreatment against NDS and that he was readyefend that statement. It
continued: “However in the initial phase of inugation [A] continuously denied his
involvement, but when the investigator showed Hie évidences of his involvement
in crimes against the government he confessed”.

In relation to C, the report stated: “During thgastigation it was found that incident
happened by [a senior NDS official] who was thedhe the department. [The
official] was sacked from his post by NDS leadgpstiue to his harsh behaviour.
Since his dismissal he is living out of Afghanistan

In relation to E, the report referred to the altema of mistreatment by an
interrogator, but stated that “there was no visgtm of bruise or scars or any other
supporting evidence, we conducted the investigadiigrnwe could not found record of
mistreatment and the interrogator he named wasdics”.

There were then a number of concluding commentsst, Rhe report stated that
investigations by the NDS are in accordance witighah law: “Whenever NDS
arrest or receive a detainee from our internatiatiads, [we] try to collect sufficient
information to support the court, when we show évaences and the supporting
information to the detainees in the initial phagéhe investigation they confess their
involvement”. Secondly, it suggested that detasnget access to mobile phones and
other means of contact, and that “they make caomtaith their linked groups and get
commands to make allegation of mistreatment, fodusig the international
community to pressurize the Afghan Govt”. Thirdly,stated that detainees are
always asked by investigators if they are in goodddtion for questioning and are
regularly checked by doctors. Finally it staté®NDS remains committed to respect
the human rights and investigate any action thaates it”.

Recent allegations made to an Afghan judge

225.

226.

Although it does not concern allegations by UK sfanees, it is convenient to
mention here that since the hearing we have beevidad with evidence in Mr
Burton’s third witness statement that in March 2@h0Afghan judge reported to UK
personnel that he had received allegations by tlieinees concerning their
treatment while in detention at NDS Lashkar Gahgluding allegations that
confessions had been extracted by force (beatargswhipping with a wire cable).
An individual was named as the principal allegedsab. The judge made clear that
the allegations were not made by UK transfereesMen¢ made by detainees who had
been captured by the NDS itself, and that the judgéd no concerns about the
treatment of detainees captured by ISAF and traresf¢o the NDS.

The matter cannot be taken very far. It appeasttie judge ordered medical reports
which found nothing to confirm the allegations tuae. The judge himself did not



want to take the allegations further and was nepared to bring the matter to the
attention of the NDS. Mr Burton states that whilst UK will continue to pursue the

matter, the judge’s assurance that he had no exeditrat ISAF detainees were being
mistreated gives sufficient assurance for the tmieg that transfers to NDS Lashkar
Gah can continue, although it is recognised thiataldds even greater imperative to
the need to see all UK detainees in private as ssomossible. The disclosed
documents contain a suggestion that the individwals made the allegations may in
fact have been captured by ISAF forces, but we reve prepared to place any
significant weight on this when it is set agains¢ judge’s clear statement to the
contrary effect.

THE CANADIAN MATERIAL
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There is in evidence a substantial body of matec@ahcerning allegations of
mistreatment of detainees transferred by Canadiae$ to the custody of the Afghan
authorities. In particular, two statements of AAitaran, a Canadian lawyer, give
detailed information about the following mattensyang others:

) Proceedings for judicial review were brought in Besleral Court of Canada in
February 2007 by Amnesty International Canada é&edRBritish Columbia
Civil Liberties Association, for whom Mr Attaran ted as counsel, alleging
that Canadian forces were acting unconstitutionialynaking such transfers
because transferees were placed at substantiabfrigkture. The claim was
ultimately rejected on jurisdictional grounds, witke result that the court did
not hear full testimony from government witnessesezoeive full disclosure of
government records. Further, a motion for an latertory injunction was
dismissed by Mactavish J in a reasoned decisiori Bébruary 2008. That
decision nevertheless contains a helpful summarhefevidence led by the
applicants (though we do not accept that these Wierdings of fact” by the
judge).

i) Also in February 2007, the Military Police Complgin Commission
announced an investigation into a complaint bysdi@e bodies that on at least
18 occasions detainees had been transferred to aAfghuthorities
notwithstanding evidence of a substantial riskayfure. Mr Attaran blames
government obstruction for the fact that proceeslibgfore the Commission
were adjourned for a long time. In his secondesta&nt, however, he informs
the court that hearings before the Commission haveresumed.

i) The issue was taken up by the press, notably iclestin The Globe and Mail
from April 2007 onwards.

Iv) In November 2009 the House of Commons Special Cdimenion the
Canadian Mission in Afghanistan (“the Afghanistaon@nittee”) commenced
hearings into the transfer of detainees and heaidemece from many
witnesses. The hearings continue.

For the initial allegations we can turn to an aetic The Globe and Mail on 23 April

2007, which reported that “Afghans detained by C#ra soldiers and sent to
Kandahar’s notorious jails say they were beatenppédd, starved, frozen, choked
and subjected to electric shocks during interraggti It referred to 30 face-to-face



229.

230.

231.

interviews with men recently captured in Kandahesvmce, “uncovering a clear
pattern of abuse by the Afghan authorities”. ltidhat “the worst stories came from
Afghans who endured captivity in the cramped basgroells underneath the NDS
headquarters in Kandahar”. Most of those heldhigyNDS for an extended time said
that they were whipped with electrical cables, Ugua bundle of wires about the
length of an arm. Some said the whipping was sofydathat they fell unconscious.
Interrogators also jammed cloth between the tee8ome detainees, who described
hearing the sound of a hand-crank generator ardohdgetihe hot flush of electricity
coursing through their muscles, seizing them wgasss. Another man said that the
police hung him by his ankles for eight days oftep Still another said that he
panicked as interrogators put a plastic bag ovehbkad and squeezed his windpipe.
Detainees also complained of being stripped hatedaand forced to stand through
winter nights when temperatures in Kandahar drdpvbé&eezing. The article stated
that “the men who survived these ordeals often ddeniroken husks”.

The article went on to record Colonel Shir Ali Sapd, human-rights ombudsman
for the Kandahar police, as stating that the padliepartment was aware of only two
complaints of beatings in police custody in thetpgsar, and that the police had
already taken steps to prevent such abuse fromehapgpagain. It continued:

“His colleagues at the NDS, on the other hand, siomes need
to get rough with their subjects, he added.

‘In these cases, these people need some tortucgude
without torture they will never say anything’, Cdé@addiqui
said.

Sadullah Khan, Kandahar NDS chief, initially deniedl
allegations of torture during a telephone interviast week.
After repeated questions, however, Mr Khan ackndgdel
that minor mistakes may have occurred during inggtions.

‘We never beat people’, the NDS chief said. ‘Maygall
things happened, but now we’re trying to leave ¢htdsngs
behind.”

The Canadian Government asserted that the allegatiwere unfounded; but
continuing press activity coupled with the legabqgeedings have made this a high
profile issue within Canada.

In evidence to the Afghanistan Committee, Mr Rich@olvin (a senior Canadian
diplomat, formerly head of the political sectiordachargé d’affaires at the Canadian
Embassy in Kabul) referred to various importantfedédnces between Canadian
practice and the practice of the UK and other IS&tes at the time when such
allegations were made. He said that as of May ZDfX7ada had transferred six times
as many detainees as the British; unlike the BritGanada was not monitoring its
own detainees after transfer but relied insteadhenICRC and AIHRC to monitor,
and was extremely slow to inform the ICRC whenaadfer had been made; another
difference was that Canada had unusually poor dekeeping; and the final
difference was that Canada cloaked its detaineetipes in extreme secrecy. He
observed:
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“... [In] the critical days after a detainee had bé&amnsferred to
the Afghan intelligence service, nobody was ablemtnitor
them. ...

During those crucial first days, what happened tor o
detainees? According to a number of reliable ssjr¢hey
were tortured.

The most common forms of torture were beating, wing
with power cables, and the use of electricity. cAmmon
was sleep deprivation, use of temperature extremss, of
knives and open flames, and sexual abuse — thataps.
Torture might be limited to the first days or itutd go on for
months.

According to our information, the likelihood is thall the
Afghans we handed over were tortured. For intetarg in
Kandahar, it was standard operating procedure.”

The deficiencies to which Mr Colvin referred wecea large extent inherent in the
MoU existing at that time between Canada and thee@wmnent of Afghanistan. As
already mentioned, a new MoU, making provisionrfamnitoring visits by Canadian
personnel, was signed on 3 May 2007. Subsequentsare described in Mactavish
J's decision of 7 February 2008 in the judicialiegw proceedings. She records that
eight complaints of mistreatment were received landtlian personnel conducting
visits between 3 May and 5 November 2007. Theljded allegations that detainees
were kicked, beaten with electrical cables, givdecteéc shocks, cut, burned,
shackled, and made to stand for days at a time thigir arms raised above their
heads. The judge observed: “While it is possililat tthese complaints were
fabricated, it is noteworthy that the methods atue described by detainees are
consistent with the type of torture practices #wat employed in Afghan prisons, as
recorded in independent country condition reportskoreover, in some cases
prisoners bore physical signs that were consistéhttheir allegations of abuse; and
Canadian personnel conducting the visits persorwdiserved detainees manifesting
signs of mental illness, and in at least two cadescribed detainees as appearing
“traumatized”. The complaints were allegedly inmigested by the Afghan authorities
and found to be without merit, though it was n@aclwhether the investigation was
an independent one, no written report had beenugextl and no details of the
investigation had been provided, all of which rdis®ncerns as to the reliability of
the findings of the investigation.

Mactavish J goes on to record that in the coursa wisit to NDS Kandahar on 5

November 2007, a detainee stated that he had Io¢éemogated on more than one
occasion, and at least one of the interrogationisthken place in the room in which

the interview was being conducted. The detainatedtthat he could not recall the
details of that investigation, as he had allegdmiign knocked unconscious early on.
He did report, however, that he had been heldeégtbund and beaten with electrical
wires and a rubber hose. He then pointed to a ahéhe interview room, stating that

the instruments that had been used to beat himbbad concealed under the chair.
Canadian personnel then located a piece of brastedrical wire and a rubber hose
under the chair in question. In the course ofitbherview the detainee also revealed a
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large bruise on his back, which was subsequentygrd®ed by Canadian personnel as
being “possibly ... the result of a blow”. One ofoe who had been present
conceded in cross-examination that the bruising we@ssistent with the beating
described by the detainee. The allegation had kegmrted to Afghan authorities and
was under investigation by them. While the in\getion was ongoing, an employee
at the facility had evidently been suspended frasrpbsition and placed in detention.
The extent to which a meaningful investigation dobé carried out was limited by
the fact that the detainee who made the allegét@mhrefused to allow his name to be
disclosed to Afghan prison officials.

As a consequence of the receipt of that compl&@anada suspended transfers of
detainees until such time as it could be satistieat it could make transfers in

accordance with its international legal obligatior@@anada made efforts to eliminate
the risk of ill-treatment to transferees, includiagdemand for the dismissal of the
NDS employee thought responsible for the ill-treaitnof the detainee who had
complained on 5 November 2007. Transfers resumedanuary 2008, with the

Canada authorities expressing themselves satittfidtheir efforts had solved the

problem.

The evidence given at recent hearings of the Canablilitary Police Complaints

Commission includes testimony from a Canadian iaffievho visited Canadian-

transferred detainees in NDS Kandahar following tBsumption of transfers in
January 2008. Questioned about “bad treatment”’sdid that in regular visits
between January and August 2008 he received “aitegaof one form or another
about eight further times”. It should, however, btessed that neither the
Commission nor the Afghanistan Committee of the &igan Parliament has yet
reached the point of making any findings on thigh® other matters to which Mr
Attaran draws attention in his second statement.

THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK FOR THE ISSUE BEFORE THE COURT
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Before considering the detailed submissions of selion the facts, it is convenient to
examine the legal framework, upon which theresslastantial measure of agreement.

The Secretary of Statejgolicy concerning the transfer of detainees to the Afghan
authorities is not under challenge. The requirgnmer to transfer detainees where
there is a real risk of torture or serious mistresit accords, so far as relevant, with
the requirements of article 3 ECHR and is unimpehtsh The issue relates to the
application of the policy. The claimant’s positienthat thepractice of transferring
detainees is in breach of the policy since, copttarthe view taken by the Secretary
of State, they are at real risk of torture or sggionistreatment if transferred. The
Secretary of State accepts that the court is edtith review his compliance with the
policy on well-established legal principles and tthbe practice of transfer is
susceptible to judicial review on that basis.

The willingness of both parties to approach theecas that way has made it
unnecessary to consider a raft of legal issuesvioatd otherwise have arisen: for
example, whether the claimant is entitled to reiyjttee ECHR (Mr Eadie has stressed
that she is not a “victim” for ECHR purposes), amdether the UK armed forces in
Afghanistan are acting in right of the UN. Thesaifull reservation of right as to the
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arguments that may be advanced in other cases.thEqresent case, however, all
such interesting questions of law must be put aside.

Although the legal issue is whether the practicegiees with the policy, rather than
the direct question whether it complies with a€i8BlECHR, it is common ground that
the principles relevant to the application of deti® are equally relevant here. Mr
Eadie expressed the test under the policy in teetslent of that irSoering v United
Kingdom (1989) 11 EHRR 439, namely “whether substantialugds have been
shown for believing that those transferred faceal risk of being subjected to torture
or serious mistreatment”. It is accepted thatstemdard is the same as that under
article 3. It is an absolute standard and doesvant according to the exigencies of
operational requirements.

Mr Eadie submitted that, since the court is engagedn exercise of review, the
relevant question is strictly whether the SecretafyState could properly have
concluded that there is no real risk. He accegtediever, that the court would apply
anxious scrutiny in answering that question and thavould make no material
difference in practice whether the court proceeoleavay of review of the Secretary
of State’s conclusion or made its own independsséssment of risk on the evidence
before it, as it would in a case under articlelf3.our judgment, the question whether
the Secretary of State’s practice complies with pidicy requires the court to
determine for itself whether detainees transfetcedfghan custody are at real risk,
and it is therefore for the court to make its ovwasessment of risk rather than to
review the assessment made by the Secretary oé.Stdthat is how we have
proceeded. We agree, however, that in practicévibeapproaches lead to the same
answer in this case.

The risk of torture or serious mistreatment is Batd to arise in this case from
circumstances specific to any individual transfere@he contention is that all
transferees are at risk, as a class, because ométkods used by the NDS in
guestioning and handling detainees under its cbnifbe correct approach in a class
case has been considered in a number of authoritiddariri v Secretary of Sate for
the Home Department [2003] EWCA Civ 807, the Court of Appeal approvetiav
had been said by the Immigration Appeal TribunaMuzafar Igbal v Secretary of
Sate for the Home Department [2002] UKIAT 02239, at para 57:

“In cases which rest not on a personal risk of hgfor

example, where the police or prison staff wouldehaause to
target a claimant) but on a risk of serious harml $a face
people generally, for example in this case all pessdetained
pending trial, it cannot be said that they wouldefa real risk
of serious harm unless in that country there isoasistent
pattern of gross and systematic violations of theman rights
whilst in detention.”

The tribunal emphasised that the “gross and sysi€hstandard was not chosen
arbitrarily but was to be found in internationajdé instruments, including article 3 of
the 1984 UN Convention against Torture.

The leading judgment iHariri was given by Laws LJ, with whom the other members
of the court agreed. In approving what the tridured said inlgbal, Laws LJ said
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that the point was one of logic: “[a]bsent evidena show that the appellant was at
risk because of his specific circumstances, thetddcbe no real risk of relevant ill-
treatment unless the situation to which the appellas returning was one in which
such violence was generally or consistently happgniand “[tlhe fact that ill-
treatment or misconduct might be routine or frequweould not be enough” (para 8).
Hariri was followed inBatayav v Secretary of Sate for the Home Department (No.1)
[2003] EWCA Civ 1489, a case about prison condgionBut in Batayav (No.1)
Sedley LJ, with whom the other members of the cagreed, made these important
cautionary remarks about the language used by LawsHariri:

“37. 1 want to add a word, however, about the ea@bn of
conditions which are alleged to create a real aslknhuman
treatment. The authority of this court has bee, fdarough the
decision inHariri, to the formulation that ill-treatment which is
‘frequent’ or even ‘routine’ does not present al msk to the
individual unless it is ‘general’ or ‘systematic® @onsistently
happening’ ....

38. Great care needs to be taken with such epithiEey are
intended to elucidate the jurisprudential concdpeal risk, not

to replace it. If a type of car has a defect whiglises one
vehicle in ten to crash, most people would say ithatesents a
real risk to anyone who drives it, albeit crashes aot
generally or consistently happening. The exedatiguage in
Hariri suggests a higher threshold than the IAT's more
cautious phrase ifgbal, ‘a consistent pattern’, which the court
in Hariri sought to endorse.

39. There is a danger, Hariri is taken too literally, of
assimilating risk to probability. A real risk is language and
in law something distinctly less than a probabjléapd it cannot
be elevated by lexicographic stages into sometimarge than it
Is.”

In Batayav v Secretary of Sate for the Home Department (No.2) [2005] EWCA Civ
366, at para 5, Buxton LJ said that he did not tstdad Sedley LJ’s reservation to
have been the view of the other members of thetaouBatayav (No.1). We are
satisfied, however, that Buxton LJ was mistakenhan point. Buxton LJ went on to
say that in order to establish an article 3 cagh@sort put forward by the appellant,
significant evidence had to be given of condititimst were “universal, or very likely
to be encountered by anyone who enters the systé&®'a gloss on what was said in
Hariri, that seems to us to give rise to the same kindaoiger as Sedley LJ had
warned against.

Taking the Court of Appeal authorities as a whale,think that the right course is to
follow the approach approved khariri, subject to the cautionary remarksBatayav
(No.1). In taking that course we keep firmly in mindttkfze ultimate question under
the policy, as under article 3, is whether thera real risk, and in particular whether
there is a “proper evidential basis” for concludihgt transferees are at real risk (to
use an expression taken from the judgment of thertGw Appeal inAS (Libya) v
Secretary of Sate for the Home Department [2008] EWCA Civ 289, [2008] HRLR 28
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at para 24, which refers in turn to the judgmenthef European Court of Human
Rights inSaadi v Italy (2008) 24 BHRC 123 at paras 128-129). The exeisismt
simply to determine whether there exists a consispattern of torture or serious
mistreatment, but to decide on the basis of thdemde as a whole whether detainees
captured by UK armed forces face a real risk ofoser mistreatment if transferred
into Afghan custody.

We also bear in mind in this connection the comsanade by the UN Special
Rapporteur on Torture and other Cruel, Inhuman agrBding Treatment or
Punishment, in an interim report dated 1 Septer@b@4, to which Mr Fordham drew
our attention. The Special Rapporteur referregpana 35 to article 3 of the UN
Convention against Torture, observing that it wésarc from the wording of the
provision that “the existence of a consistent pattef gross, flagrant or mass
violations in a country is not necessarily the atdgermining factor, that it may have
to be assessed with other relevant considerationgarticular those relating to the
vulnerability of the person concerned”. In paral86referred to article 20 of the
Convention, concerning the “systematic” practicéasfure, and he recalled how this
was defined by the Committee against Torture: tdter is practised systematically
when it is apparent that torture cases reportea et occurred fortuitously in a
particular place or at a particular time, but aeersto be habitual, widespread and
deliberate in at least a considerable part of tmtry in question”.

Part of the evidence concerns the MoU and relagsdirances. There was some
discussion before us as to whetlaay reliance could properly be placed on such
assurances when the intention of the parties dtrtteewhen they were given was that
they should remain confidential and not be put itite public domain. This was
based in part on a passage RB (Algeria) v Secretary of Sate for the Home
Department [2009] 2 WLR 512,at para 102, citing an earlier judgment of SIAC,
given by Ouseley J, in which it was said that “tB8HD cannot rely on any
substantive assurance unless it is put into theoped that “SIAC could not put
weight on assurances which the giver was not pegp#a make public’. That
remains SIAC’s approach, as appears from the apdgment given by Mitting J in
Abid Naseer & Othersv Secretary of Sate for the Home Department (judgment of 18
May 2010) at paras 35-36.

One can readily see why a secret assurance mightenoapable of providing any
guarantee of protection, since it would not giveerito any possibility of
accountability through public scrutiny. In thissea however, the MoU, although
originally confidential, has long been in the paldomain; and we understand that Dr
Saleh agreed to his letter of assurance beingnpthiei public domain, as it will be by
this judgment, even though it was originally coefitial. In those circumstances we
see no reason why the Secretary of State shoutdldatuded as a matter of principle
from relying on the assurances. The fact that thesre originally given
confidentially is simply one of the matters to bh&edn into account when considering
what weight can be placed on them.

RB (Algeria) provides more general guidance on the subjectsafraaces. At paras
112-113 of his opinion Lord Phillips referred toleneant Strasbourg authorities,
including Chahal v United Kingdom (1996) 23 EHRR 413 anflaadi v Italy (cited
above). He continued:
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“114. | do not consider that these decisions dstaba
principle that assurances must eliminate all rifknbhuman
treatment before they can be relied upon. It ia@is that if a
state seeks to rely on assurances that are givem donuntry
with a record for disregarding fundamental humahts, it will
need to show that there is good reason to treadberances as
providing a reliable guarantee that the deporteé mat be
subject to such treatment. If, however, after mmration of
all the relevant circumstances of which assurarfices part,
there are no substantial grounds for believing thateportee
will be at real risk of inhuman treatment, therd! Wwe no basis
for holding that deportation will violate article 3

115. That said, there is an abundance of matialsupports
the proposition that assurances should be treatéth w
scepticism if they are given by a country whereumian
treatment by state agents is endemic. This cothosg ¢to the
‘Catch 22’ proposition that if you need to ask Bmsurances
you cannot rely on them. If a state is unwillingumable to
comply with the obligations of international law relation to
the avoidance and prevention of inhuman treatnfew, can it
be trusted to be willing or able to give effectato undertaking
that an individual deportee will not be subject soch
treatment?”

Similar observations are to be found in the opinadrLord Hope, in particular at
paras 237-239. Although he, too, said that “treeeegrounds for doubting whether it
could ever be right to rely on assurances givernhieygovernments of states where
treatment contrary to article 3 is generally pisedi’, he too rejected any suggestion
that such assurances are objectionable in prinaiptemade clear that the court must
examine in each case whether assurances are auffizi the circumstances to
counter the risk of treatment contrary to articlarl that the weight to be given to
them depends on the particular circumstances.

Although everything depends on the particular eirstances, it is clear from other
passages iRB (Algeria) that relevant matters include the degree of comtxelcised
by those giving the assurances over those whos#ucors in issue, and the existence
and effectiveness of means of verification, whetbhgr external monitoring or
otherwise.

THE CLAIMANT’S SUBMISSIONS

251.

The claimant’'s case is that there has existed latnaterial times a real risk that
detainees transferred to the custody of the NDSldvbe subjected to torture or
serious mistreatment, and that the practice osfeas has been and remains in breach
of the Secretary of State’s policy: transfers sthmot have started in July 2006, they
should in any event have stopped in November 2@8lib\ying the suspension of
transfers by Canada and publication of Amnesty'syévaber 2007 report on the
torture of detainees), and they should not haverntgdace at any time since. It is
important to look at the past as well as the priesen just because the claim includes
it but because if it is established that there Hzeen serious problems in the past one
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needs to look all the more carefully at the presemnt at the continuation of existing
practice into the future.

Whilst heavily criticising the Secretary of Statg@ractice and the assessments upon
which it was based, Mr Fordham made clear, as we haeady mentioned, that he
was not impugning the good faith of those respdadidr making the assessments.

The claimant relies on the reports of the AIHR@ #arious UN agencies and NGOs
as providing compelling evidence of systemic maireent, reinforced by the specific
cases in the Canadian material and the allegat@te by individual UK transferees.
Stress is placed on the importance of confessimnsedcuring convictions and on the
evidence of the use of torture to obtain confessiohhe evidence shows that prior to
the commencement of transfers UK officials were ranaf the risk of torture or
mistreatment in Afghan custody. One of the readonghe MoU was to secure
assurances on the treatment of detainees handed owowever, the MoU
arrangements came nowhere near to providing thesiég|guarantee of protection of
the human rights of transferees. The terms ohthengements were not adequate for
that purpose, and the terms that did exist wereowiplied with.

Points made by Mr Fordham in relation to the Mold &oL include the following:

)] The MoU was entered into without any clear ideahofv it was to be
implemented. It had not been decided at the tifndne MoU that transfers
would be made to the NDS, and various options websequently considered.

i) It was not intended to be a public document aniddked the transparency
needed if it was to create any form of public actahility.

1)) The Afghan signatory of the MoU was the Ministerefence. There is no
evidence that he was speaking or thought that bkl gpeak on behalf of the
NDS, or that the NDS accepted that it was covergdhe MoU. On the
contrary, the Minister of Defence made clear thathlad no jurisdiction or
control over other ministries or agencies and that could not take
responsibility for the welfare of detainees beingamgled and managed by
others; and the stance subsequently taken by tH& ildBIf was that it had not
been consulted in the drafting of the MoU and il aiot recognise the
authority of the Minister of Defence to promise #niyg on its behalf.
Further, if the NDS was covered by or had committethese arrangements,
one would expect it to have disseminated instrasticeferring to them and
calling on its personnel to act in accordance wvilibm, but there is no
evidence of any such instruction.

iv) When the EoL was entered into with a view to obitajradditional assurances,
the Afghan signatory on this occasion was Dr Rdssba National Security
Advisor. Again the NDS was not a party. Moreowwthough Dr Rassoul’s
letter stated that the NDS would issue writtenrungtions about the agreed
access and visiting procedures, there is no evaldmat any such instructions
were issued.

V) Even on the basic issue of torture and serious@aishent, the MoU is vague
and insufficient in its terms, providing only thie Afghan authorities “will
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Vi)

vi)

viii)

be responsible for” treating transferees in acamdawith Afghanistan’s
international human rights obligations, includihg frohibition of torture etc.

Although the MoU contained provision for UK persehto have “full access”
to transferees, it did not make specific provisifor private access, a
requirement to which express reference was firstenia the EoL.

Neither the MoU nor the EoL provides for some oé thasic safeguards
identified by the UN Special Rapporteur in his Sember 2004 report (see
[245] above). Para 41 of the report states, asmrdsgguarantees for
individuals deprived of their liberty, that assuras obtained from countries to
which such persons are handed over should as anommiinclude provisions
with respect to prompt access to a lawyer, recgrdipreferably video-
recording) of all interrogation sessions and recwycdof the identity of all
persons present, prompt and independent medicalieation, and forbidding
incommunicado detention or detention at undisclgsades.

A further fundamental weakness of the arrangementthat they do not
address the important issue of proper investigaifaomplaints when made.

As to the operation of the transfer arrangementgractice, Mr Fordham submitted
that even the matters expressly provided for inNlodJ and EoL were not properly
implemented. In particular:

)

The history of access has been incapable of pmyidiny reassurance of
proper treatment of transferees. A view expredsedhe FCO just before
transfers commenced was that careful monitorintheffirst few cases would
provide an insight into whether the systems anaqutares were functioning
effectively. Yet in practice there were no visds all for many months.
Thereatfter, although access was in general unpratie until recently at
NDS Lashkar Gah, there have been serious problem®& Kabul. Access
has been patchy even when not deliberately refu3dskre were no visits to
NDS Kabul from October 2008 until this year (follog the transfer of the
one detainee there in February 2010). The rqm@tiems concerning access
at Lashkar Gah evidence once again the fragility toé monitoring
arrangements and are inconsistent with the suggesti a commitment to
access arising from the MoU/EoL. General Naim washarge of Lashkar
Gah for much of the relevant period, but he evilgedid not get the point of
the access arrangements. The refusal of accessa wasition deliberately
adopted even while transfers and access arrangement under the spotlight
of legal proceedings in this court.

Further, access has been of limited value becdwese have been no private
interviews of detainees at NDS facilities, desghie fact that this was one of
the points of the EoL; and the recent interviewcpca at Lashkar Gah, when
access has been provided, underlines the unsabisfamature of the
arrangements and illustrates how the NDS is allowedlictate matters.
Interviews have also been cursory. The kinds sits/ithat have taken place
have not been suited to the eliciting of complamwtsere ill-treatment has
occurred and cannot plausibly be relied on as diogiprotection against the
use of torture to secure confessions. By contvasts to detainees in prisons



256.

257.

ii)

outside NDS control and away from the NDS environimeave produced
credible allegations of previous ill-treatment vehih NDS custody; but prison
visits themselves have been sporadic and accidanthlare not an adequate
safeguard. A further deficiency, in relation td \akits, is that UK officials
have not been accompanied by persons suitablyfigdato detect signs of
torture when complaints are made.

There have been occasions when the ICRC and AIHR@ themselves been
denied access despite the provision for it in tr@dJM In any event, the UK

cannot rely on visits by the ICRC since it is pueledd by obligations of

confidentiality from passing the information onttee UK (as to which, see

also para 146 of the judgment $aadi v Italy, cited above); and the AIHRC
cannot have been making regular visits to individigdainees, since otherwise
relevant material would have been included in tiseldsed documents. None
of the outside organisations picked up the allegatby UK transferees which
are now accepted by the UK to be credible.

There has been a clear failure by the NDS to comptiz the obligations
under the MoU to keep an accurate record of alisfierees, including a record
of transfer to an alternative facility, and to mptihe UK prior to the initiation
of criminal proceedings and prior to release. NS has failed to provide
any information on a proactive basis. The diffimd experienced by the UK
in tracking transferees have been considerableereThave been repeated
problems in locating transferees, and internalsfiens and releases have taken
place without notification: the statement in thenisiierial Q&A document of
31 October 2007 that there are “robust mechanismglace” to ensure
accurate recording has at no time been correct.selhgroblems have
contributed to the failure to secure regular visifstransferees. The grid
prepared during the course of the hearing, showivigere individual
transferees were held at particular times, had dopieced together from
information in the various monitoring reports arsdimcomplete even now;
whereas, if the MoU had been working properly, lhdad complete picture
for all transferees would have been readily av&labrhe explanation given
for some of these difficulties — that the Afgharssign prisoners their own
reference number when they enter the system andotaamways easily
identify which prisoners the UK wishes to see —vies an additional reason
for concern. It shows that UK transferees are dedlt with by the NDS
separately from other detainees and that the Matplyi has no significance
from the point of view of the NDS.

It was therefore submitted that the arrangementsviits and monitoring cannot
provide a reliable and robust assurance of prapatrent of transferees by the NDS.
They do not bear the weight that the SecretaryjtateSeeks to place on them.

As to Dr Saleh’s letter of assurance dated 25 Maf10, Mr Fordham submitted that
it is striking that such an assurance was thoughtbé needed, since these
requirements have been in the MoU or EoL from ttzet.s Further, Dr Saleh was
slow in implementing his stated intention to dird@t the position set out in the letter
should be followed. The letter gives far too dttlar too late, and there is no
guarantee that the assurance contained in it wiltiélivered in practice. The court
should not place any weight on this document.
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A further submission was that no inference favolaab the Secretary of State could
be drawn from the fact that relatively few comptainf mistreatment have emerged
in the course of the visits made by UK officials ttee various NDS facilities.
Contrary to basic international standards and #wglirement expressly included in
the EoL, it has not been possible to hold privaterviews with transferees in the
course of visits to NDS facilities. They have bésterviewed in the direct presence
of guards or in circumstances where they would hagson to fear that guards might
be able to overhear them. Those are not the gongdiin which detainees can be
expected to make complaints of mistreatment evémey have suffered it. The fear
of reprisals if complaints are made is obviousarkmn be seen in the withholding or
withdrawal of consent for complaints to be commated to the NDS for
investigation. No weight should therefore be pthom the fact that only a small
number of complaints have been made in the codrsech visits.

This is contrasted with what has happened wherirdeta have been interviewed in
private, away from the NDS environment, as in theecof prisoner X at Helmand
provincial prison and the various detainees sedpo&i-Charki. The proportion of
those visited away from the NDS who have complaigeout earlier mistreatment at
NDS facilities is very high. Moreover, those aliégns implicate all three NDS
facilities, not just Kabul; and they implicate thamrelation to times where visits
were being made to the NDS facilities but disclosething.

Mr Fordham submitted that the accounts of ill-tneait made by the various
individual UK transferees were consistent with #ied of ill-treatment recorded
elsewhere and could not sensibly be dismissed #fplalfabrications. For example,
at the time of the complaint made by the Canadiamsteree at NDS Kandahar on 5
November 2007, the instruments to which he refeltad been discovered in the
room. Not only was that inconsistent with it bewg isolated incident, but it fitted
with other allegations of the use of electricalleab administer beatings.

As regards prisoner X, various criticisms were madfldéhe investigation by UK
officials. Those who physically examined him weret trained to detect signs of
torture. DrOnder Ozkalipci, Medical Director of the International Railitation
Council for Torture Victims, has provided a witnesfatement in which he says that
electric shock torture seldom leaves detectablé&ksnand he is critical of the quality
of the medical and visit reports in this case. ilBimconcerns are expressed in a
witness statement of Dr Frank Arnold, of the Metliugstice Network.

In addition, Mr Fordham pointed otriter alia that the medical officer who examined
X went no further than to say that there was nal@we to support or deny the
allegations of electrocution; that the senior legfliser, Major Mynors, noted that an
expert pathologist’s report could be sought as tether the descriptions of the
beatings and electrocution rang true, but that m@tsdone; and that Major Mynors
did not himself rely on inconsistencies in X’'s agobas a reason for disbelieving
him. He submitted that the reasons for finding Xtxount not to be credible were
unsatisfactory and that there was in truth no &afgis for the conclusion that the
allegations were unsubstantiated. Indeed, whenalégations were considered in
conjunction with those emerging at that time inpeet of Canadian transferees, it
should have been found that they had the ringudih to them.
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When the allegations made by detainees seen atGtarki in 2009 are taken into
account, there is said to be a clear and alarmatiggqm of mistreatment. These were
credible, consistent accounts which the NDS repastdone nothing to dent; and the
Secretary of State accepts that the allegationsddtpinees A to D may have
substance. On any view, it is submitted, thoséhéurallegations support the view
that there was systematic ill-treatment at Kabws to Kandahar, detainee D’s
allegation of fleeting ill-treatment there cannat Wiewed as an isolated case, given
the number of allegations by Canadian transferdesias pure chance that enabled
D’s allegations to emerge because he was seetatdradate at Pol-i-Charki. There
were other UK detainees at Kandahar at the sanmeedsihe was; the system was such
that the visits carried out at Kandahar were not@glicit complaints from them, and
in their case there was not the same fortuitousvielp as occurred with D. As to
Lashkar Gah, in addition to X’s account, therehis allegation made by detainee E.
His description of ill-treatment is said to ringuér or at least not to be an obvious
fabrication. It is not clear when E is talking abdl-treatment in transit rather than
during interrogation; he did have scars; and causmeeded in placing weight on the
recollection of the escorting officer, two yeargeathe event, as to whether E had any
visible injury at the time.

Mr Fordham dwelt upon what he described as “selestigation” by the NDS,
pointing to the total absence of reassurance gethis form of investigation into
complaints. It is obvious that one cannot expegtagtical and effective outcome if,
instead of having a transparent and objective tigyatson by an independent body,
one entrusts such a task to the very organisagamst which the complaint is made;
nor can any detainee expect to feel safe in ma&imgpmplaint when the matter is
going to be investigated in this way.

The recent report by the NDS was submitted to lenplg inadequate. No proper
details of the investigation are given. The appho@ focused on going back to the
complainants to see if they are really complaininghe response concerning the
complaint by prisoner C, that the perpetrator idarger in post, falls very far short
of thoroughness or transparency and raises mang qagstions than it answers (for
example, when did the sacking take place, why \kasperpetrator not brought to
justice, what was the involvement of other NDS fstahd what were the knock-on
effects of the practice?). The report’'s concludmognments provoke concern rather
than allaying it. The last paragraph is derisoitye report shows that there is no true
understanding of the protection of human rightsobwhat is required in order to
ensure proper accountability. All of this is jugtat one would expect from the NDS.

In overall conclusion, Mr Fordham submitted that firactice of transfers is not and
never has been compatible with the required standany transferee is at real risk of
torture or serious mistreatment at the hands of Nid&rogators. The MoU did not
get near providing a practical guarantee or asseraemoving the real risk. The
systems as designed and implemented were not eapzHblsecuring adequate
protection of the human rights of transferees. r&h@as no excuse for making
transfers knowing that the necessary mechanismadoountability and protection

were not in place. By November 2007 the allegatioade by prisoner X, the

Canadian evidence and Amnesty’s report had addettheareasons why transfers
should not have been continued. Then came theughisin to access at NDS Kabul
in 2008, and the strong pattern of credible allegatin 2009 which link to other
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information about ill-treatment and which it is iogsible to dismiss as isolated, non-
systemic or historic. It is impossible to distimguLashkar Gah or Kandahar as being
safe notwithstanding the problems at Kabul. Therevidence of abuse at all three,
and none can be isolated in practice from the etlhecause of the possibility of

transfer of detainees and of NDS staff betweerliti@si.

It was submitted that from all angles, save theesmwents made by the UK
government itself, there can be seen to be sulstgnbunds for believing that those
transferred face a real risk of torture or serimistreatment.

THE SECRETARY OF STATE’'S SUBMISSIONS

268.

269.

270.

Mr Eadie opened his submissions by emphasising diffecult and dangerous
operational context and the pressing need to ernbkatesuspected insurgents captured
in the field can be detained and brought to justiele also drew our attention to the
work being done with the Afghan authorities to sisthem in developing and
improving their own capabilities, and to the potagntdamage to UK-Afghan
relationships if transfers could not be made. Hénsgtted moreover that the
claimant’s case, although limited to the transterthe Afghan authorities of those
captured by UK armed forces, also had serious gaptins for joint operations
conducted by the UK and for the position of oteAFF partners. Whilst underlining
in these various ways the sensitivity and importapicthe case, he accepted that such
considerations could not affect the answer to thestion whether transferees are at
real risk of torture or serious mistreatment. Hgoasubmitted that operational
pressures have not been allowed to cloud judgnanédfect the assessments made
by officials over time as to whether such a rislsed.

The steps taken to ensure that there was no skalvere intended to operate together,
and the various strands should not be viewed ilatisn. It was recognised that the
MoU, as a piece of paper, would not be sufficientself, but its terms were adequate
to provide the requisite protection if operateceefifvely; it did not have to include all
the requirements mentioned by the UN Special Rappoiin his September 2004
report. The MoU was regarded as a model by oth&F ISates. It was entered into
with the Government of Afghanistan, on whose betiafMinister of Defence signed
the document (just as the Secretary of State fderde signed on behalf of the UK
Government). A considered view was taken that thés the appropriate form,
especially in circumstances where it was thougdt ttansfers might have to be made
to other jurisdictions of the government and nat jio the NDS; and in any event the
NDS was regarded as being part of the GovernmeAfgifanistan. It was not clear
at the time how the agreement was going to belladfi but the MoU provided an
important political commitment and a formal documigimding on the Government of
Afghanistan. The statements made at the time by Mmister of Defence, for
example that he would not take responsibility fetasthees held by other Afghan
agencies such as the NDS, should not be takenfochniext as showing that the
Government of Afghanistan could not comply withatsigations under the MoU. It
was also the considered view subsequently thaggipeopriate counterparty to the
EoL was the National Security Advisor rather théwe NDS, since the National
Security Council had formal responsibility for détention policy.

Mr Eadie submitted that the NDS was the appropbatty to which, in the event, to
make transfers. It was the body designated aenafge by the ICRC and ISAF, and
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it has constitutional and legal responsibility security and terrorist matters under
Afghan law. The fact that it is the subject of exret presidential decree does not
make it unaccountable in domestic law (and comias$ also provided by the US,
which had seen the decree). Before transfers commmae UK officials were aware of
the need to ensure that the terms of the MoU wamvk to the NDS, and events
proved that this was the case. The NDS lawyeriguogtl in June 2006 that he was
aware of the MoU and that the NDS had introduced fugms as a result of it. An
FCO memorandum later the same month stated thalii& had assured officials
that it would honour the terms of the MoU with respto access (and Mr Eadie
submitted that this should not be read in a limit&y). It is inconceivable that senior
NDS figures with whom meetings were held in Mar€l®2 to discuss detention and
prosecution issues did not know about the MoU.

It is true that there came a point in early 200ewihe NDS said that it did not
consider itself bound by the MoU. This was in tatext of the denial of access and
other problems at Kabul. It appears that Dr Saledd an agenda relating to the
provision of funding for a new NDS facility at KabuThere was an appropriate and
swift reaction by the UK, in halting transfers talul. The UK worked hard to find a
solution, and visits recommenced (on the basisooft jvisits with the Dutch) in
February 2009. The denial of access was not mplicat Kandahar and Lashkar
Gah.

No-one in government is otherwise than alive to ¢hallenge of dealing with the
NDS, but the approach has been to work through lpmabd diplomatically and
constructively, so as to bring about improvemenis preserve the advances gained.
A good working relationship has been establishetl wiseries of important figures in
the NDS, including Dr Saleh himself, and there Ib@sn increasing contact with NDS
officers on the ground, in particular through traghexercises. Dr Saleh’s letter of 25
March 2010 represents an important step forwanaesenting the culmination of a
series of engagements with the NDS over the yedise letter is not a complete
answer in itself and needs practical action to baap, but it will be available for use
if future problems arise. It confirms that the NIsScommitted to ensuring the
protection of transferees, as is the Government Abfhanistan generally.
Considerations of self-interest also support thppreach: the Government of
Afghanistan supports the presence of ISAF in Afgtan; it is aware that the UK
and other ISAF states are heavily focused on theegtion of transferees; and there
are powerful reasons of self-interest in the ND8 #re Govenrment of Afghanistan
more generally ensuring that there is no cessatfomansfers and for that purpose
ensuring that the requisite protection of trangelie maintained.

As to tracking and monitoring of transferees, Mrdieasubmitted that it is not a
matter of legal obligation but is acknowledged by tUK to be of considerable
importance in making judgments as to whether @ppropriate and consistent with
the policy for transfers to be made: thus it iseatral feature of the MoU, EoL and
letter of 25 March 2010. The location and frequeotvisits are themselves matters
of judgment. Resources have been devoted prihgifmathe NDS facilities because
it is recognised that the main concerns have fatusethe NDS and the pre-trial
phase of detention. There have been and contmbe some problems, but in most
cases the system works well and enables propertonioigj. There are very few
prisoners whose whereabouts are uncertain, andevgmeblems have arisen there has
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been an enormous effort to follow up queries anddoure improvements. The

contention that the system is hopelessly flawetbisjustified. Working practice has

provided sufficient oversight to enable the assesdérof whether there has been ill-
treatment. Where problems have arisen, they domaotant an inference that the

system is being flouted or manipulated to condéaleatment (though it is accepted

that while problems exist a safeguard againstelitiment is not in place). It is clear
from the steps taken to secure the letter of 25cM&010 from Dr Saleh that the UK

government regards access as critical to the ammtion and success of the transfer
regime.

In line with a broader theme of his submissions, BAdie invited the court to look
carefully at the position of the various NDS fae#s individually. There have been
no real difficulties about visits at NDS Kandahawen during the period of the
moratorium on further transfers between June 20@9February 2010 (a moratorium
imposed not because of problems about visits beaiuse of the allegations made by
Prisoner D when seen at Pol-i-Charki prison). €hleave been problems at NDS
Kabul, which led to the imposition of a moratoriiimDecember 2008 (a moratorium
that is still in place, subject to the exceptiotrahsfer of one prisoner in February
2010); but those problems cannot justify an infeeethat monitoring systems
generally are flawed and not capable of providiaguaance. At Pol-i-Charki prison
there was some difficulty in tracking initially, teuse of the number of prisoners and
poor record-keeping, etc; but there was no attembpibstruction, and monitoring
improved once the system of joint visits with thet€h was put in place. As to NDS
Lashkar Gah, where the great majority of UK detasnare transferred, there is a
generally good picture in terms of access. Itug that there have been some recent
difficulties, but they appear to be to do with awrewding and pressures on the
system.

As to the claimant’s criticisms of the nature of ¥isits themselves, Mr Eadie relied
on the matters set out in the witness statementMroBurton, which we have
summarised above, concerning matters such as #uotigal constraints imposed by
security issues and what visiting officials havenaged to achieve within those
constraints. The fact that visits have not inctugevate interviews with detainees,
away from the presence of guards, has not deptivedvisits of all utility: they
enable checks to be made that detainees are #rere good physical shape and do
not appear afraid or unable to speak. It was asledged that the EoL nonetheless
refers to visits being in private; and steps hasenbtaken recently to ensure so far as
possible that visits do take place in private froow on. Visits to Pol-i-Charki have
been in private since June 2009. Visits to NDSd&ar have been in private since
September 2009. A substantial degree of privaéstexn practice at NDS Lashkar
Gah, albeit the present position is that officele only able to see detainees in groups
rather than individually.

Mr Eadie relied on the inspections carried outh®y ICRC, the AIHRC and UNAMA
as providing a further safeguard. He said thafdbethat the ICRC is unable to share
its inspection reports with the UK or other ISAFRatss does not diminish its
importance as a strand in the protective systedesalso relied on the work that has
been done, in accordance with a core part of theniiMdate, to assist the Afghan
authorities in driving up standards. At the sameethe resisted the drawing of any
inference that standards were too low in the ptate.
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Mr Eadie accepted that the various general repirtee AIHRC, UN agencies and

NGOs raise issues and allegations of consideraieusness. Despite that worrying
background, however, he submitted that the safelguare sufficient to provide the

requisite degree of assurance in respect of tlagntent of UK transferees He made a
number of cautionary comments about the use ofdperts: for example, the need
for caution in extrapolating from general allegatioto specific inferences about
individual locations and organisations; the neetbtk carefully at whether a report

is based on relevant first-hand evidence or simippeats allegations contained in
previous reports; and the need to distinguish betwgeneralities and the very

specific set of circumstances with which one ididgan this case.

He also counselled caution in relation to the usthe Canadian material, whilst at
the same time emphasising that the original Cardghanistan MoU did not contain
the provisions included in the UK-Afghanistan MoUtlwregard to access and
monitoring; and that since the visits regime haanb&rengthened Canada has decided
that transfers can properly be resumed (a poinwvioich, in Mr Eadie’s submission,
the UK is entitled to place considerable weighyegi the spotlight that has been
shone on the Canadian practice).

As regards the specific allegations made by UKdfierees, Mr Eadie submitted that
they need to be considered by reference to indalithcation (since one should not
draw too weighty an inference from ill-treatmenbat location in relation to others);
that the number of allegations made is small negatio the total number of detainees
transferred; and that, coming as they do from stiegde insurgents who are
presumptively the enemy, their truth should noabeepted too readily.

There have been only a small number of allegatainl-treatment at NDS Lashkar
Gah. The first, by prisoner X, was in Septembd7201t was taken very seriously,
there was a careful investigation and the ICRC wdgrmed. The assessment
reached at the end of the investigation was thatalfegation was unsubstantiated.
The court should accept the reasonableness anectmess of that assessment: there
are most serious doubts about the credibility of X.further allegation concerning
Lashkar Gah was in September 2009, by prisonetl&gimg ill-treatment while in
detention at Lashkar Gah and while being trandflefrem there to Kabul via Camp
Bastion in September 2007; but again there arewsergrounds for doubting the
veracity of the allegation. There have been nogatiens of recent ill-treatment of
UK transferees at Lashkar Gah. When one take® thnadters together with the fact
that Lashkar Gah is the facility to which the UKshthe greatest access and where it
knows the NDS people best, Mr Eadie submitted thavas entirely proper to
conclude that the requisite degree of protectiastexhere and that transfers can take
place without real risk of torture or serious nmestment.

As to NDS Kandahar, there has been only one altagaly a UK transferee, namely
prisoner D, who alleged that he had been beatetlleadt Kandahar but had then
suffered greater ill-treatment following his tragisto NDS Department 17 at Kabul.
It had not been possible to investigate the allegain detail because of D’s

withdrawal of consent. In so far as the allegatiglated to NDS Kabul, the Secretary
of State accepts that it is consistent with thoselenby prisoners A to C concerning
their treatment there and that there may be sormstaoce to these claims. In so far
as it related to Kandahar, however, it was les®sgrn nature and was an isolated
allegation. It led to an immediate moratorium eansfers to Kandahar but, when
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taken with all other relevant considerations (idahg the Canadian experience) was
not considered to justify the continuation of theratorium after February 2010.

As to NDS Kabul, it was accepted, as already mantipthat the allegations made by
prisoners A to C were potentially credible and doulot be dismissed as

unsubstantiated (and that this part of the allegathade by D fell into the same

category). In the case of C, the NDS’s own ingzgion found that the incident had

occurred. However, the head of Department 17atithe of the alleged ill-treatment

was dismissed because of his behaviour. Moredemtoratorium on transfers of

UK detainees to Kabul, imposed in December 200&uisx of access problems, has
been kept in place (save for the exceptional cadbeotransfer of one detainee in

February 2010).

To counter the suggestion that moratoria on UKdiiens to a facility such as NDS
Kabul can be circumvented by internal transfersvben NDS facilities, Mr Eadie
made the point that such internal transfers haweiroed only very occasionally and
are subject to serious practical constraints. 8seaof the security situation, the
assistance of the UK armed forces is generally exetd effect a transfer by
helicopter. However, the UK’s policy is that, whea moratorium is in place in
respect of transfers to a particular facility, thi€ will neither make direct transfers to
that facility nor assist the Afghan authoritiestriansferring detainees from elsewhere
to that facility. The documents contain at least @xample of assistance for a
transfer to NDS Kabul being refused in accordanitie that policy.

In relation to the investigation of complaints, Madie submitted that the UK has
done the maximum it could properly be expectedhtojing regard to the need to
respect Afghan sovereignty: it has carried oubits) investigations so far as it is
able to do so, including the involvement of medistdff where appropriate and

practical; it has passed on allegations to the IGR€CAIHRC and has worked hard to
ensure that those bodies are able to perform tboastions effectively; and it has

pressed the NDS to investigate, to the extent these making allegations have
consented to that course. It is true that invastbg by the NDS is not transparent or
independent, and that the quality and level ofitlefaNDS reports is not what one

would expect in this jurisdiction; but the NDS hasgestigated, reported and kept the
UK informed, and it can and will take action wheure allegation is substantiated (as
shown by the removal of a former head of Departmd@)t The deficiencies in NDS

reports should not lead one to conclude that tdse might be transferred now, for

example to Lashkar Gah, would be at real risk. r& e a need for improvement but
that should not lead to an inference of real risk.

Whilst Mr Eadie submitted that the transfers magetlre UK had been lawful
throughout, he urged the court to focus on the uavelss of the current practice, not
on its lawfulness at various points of time in gast. The court should concentrate
on the practice that is presently operated, haraggrd to the improvements that have
been made over time, the monitoring regime nowaecg the existing assurances, the
build-up in working relationships and the developinef institutions in Afghanistan
over the years.

In Mr Eadie’s submission, the claimant can onlycaed if there are substantial
grounds for believing thadll transferees, to whichever location, are at redl ofs
torture or serious mistreatment. She must thezefbow that the policy is incapable



of being operated consistently with the requireaindard (which would mean in
practice that none of the ISAF states could prgperake transfers). The evidence
does not make good that case.
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We have found this a troubling and difficult cas@.he picture painted by the
independent reports on Afghanistan is one of widkzsp and serious ill-treatment of
detainees, including ill-treatment by the NDS intjgalar, with continuing grounds
for concern despite improvements over time. Addimst background it was essential
for the UK to put in place and implement an effeetset of specific safeguards if
detainees were to be transferred to the NDS witheal risk that they would be
subject to such ill-treatment. Great efforts hbgen made to establish and operate an
appropriate system for the purpose, in very difficircumstances. Transfers have
been suspended where, because of problems in th&atom of the system, the
safeguards were considered to be insufficient ifatheé case of the moratorium on
transfers to Kabul following denial of access f@itg). Transfers have continued to
the extent that the system has been assessedrasirapsufficiently well to provide
the requisite degree of assurance, as in the ¢asmnsfers to Lashkar Gah. That the
continuation of transfers has been based on gdgumade assessments is not in
dispute. What we have to decide is whether thesessments are soundly based.
The evidence before the court gives undoubted ciusmoncern about them. What
is much more difficult to determine is whether iamants the conclusion that
transferees as a class are at real risk of setliewsatment at the hands of the NDS,
so that it is in breach of the Secretary of Stap@kcy and therefore unlawful for any
transfers to be made.

In considering the independent reports on treatroéuletainees in Afghanistan, we
have borne in mind the cautionary observations of&edie. Even so, as he rightly
accepted, those reports establish a worrying bagkdgainst which to consider the
position of UK transferees. Nor is this merelytastorical issue. The reports display
a substantial degree of consistency over time.

The March 2005 report of the independent experpaped by the UN Secretary-
General referred to the receipt of testimony fraonnfer detainees about abusive
practices, including torture; and the NDS was ofdhe institutions specifically
identified. Human Rights Watch stated in NovemB606 that it had received
credible reports about the mistreatment of detairngethe NDS and other Afghan
authorities. The March 2007 report of the UN H@bmmissioner for Human Rights
noted that reports of the use of torture and otbiems of ill-treatment by the NDS
were frequent. Amnesty’s November 2007 reportrreteto the receipt, over the
previous two years, of repeated reports of toraure other ill-treatment of detainees
by the NDS; it expressed grave concern and recometea moratorium on transfers.
Amnesty and the UN High Commissioner for Human Rgtontinued to refer to
reports of torture in their 2008 and 2009 reporthie AIHRC’s detailed April 2009
report, based on extensive first-hand research tveperiod 2006-2008, found that
torture and other serious mistreatment were comtaoapin the majority of law
enforcement institutions in Afghanistan, includitige NDS. The NDS was also
singled out as an institution which had not coofseravith the Commission, and in
which (by contrast with some other agencies) then@gssion’s monitoring and
follow-up had not resulted in a decrease in tortufes recently as December 2009,
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Human Rights Watch reported that it had receiveshyn@ports of torture during
interrogations at NDS Department 17, and in itsntgu summary for 2010 it
reiterated that there were persistent reports rofit® and abuse of detainees held by
the NDS.

There is no doubt a substantial degree of overkwden the reports of torture and
mistreatment referred to by those various orgamisat In many cases, moreover,
they are reporting allegations which have not baeestigated in depth or even at all,
and it is impossible to tell whether the allegasi@me well founded. In our judgment,
however, it would be wrong to discount this volumé& complaints and the
significance attached to them by reputable humghtsiagencies, especially when
they are considered in the light of concerns regadptexpressed about the lack of
transparency and accountability of the NDS, incigdiprocedures for the
investigation of complaints and the prosecutiothoke responsible for ill-treatment.

The plausibility of the allegations is enhancedthg importance of confessions as
evidence in the criminal legal process, and thegssigd link between the use of
torture and the obtaining of confessions from thasg&er interrogation. This is one of
the points touched on in the AIHRC’s April 2009 oelp It is a point that was rightly

in the mind of the UK official who stated in Ap2007 that “it should be borne in

mind that all convictions in Helmand are obtained the basis of confession

evidence” and who referred to the existence ofr&ttp woeful backdrop insofar as
respect for human rights and respect for judicialcpss is concerned” (see [81]
above). Whilst the UK and other ISAF states havevided training and other

assistance to help the Afghan authorities impréwgr tprocesses, there is nothing to
show that confessions have lost their central ewide role in the securing of

convictions or, therefore, that the incentive teuse confessions has significantly
diminished.

Taking those various matters into account, we thkeview that, in the absence of
specific safeguards governing the position of aetas transferred by UK forces into
NDS custody, the scale of torture and serious sastnent evidenced by the
background material would be sufficient to justifye conclusion that transferees
were at real risk of such ill-treatment. We therefturn to consider the nature and
effectiveness of the safeguards relied on. In tbhanection we refer both to formal
safeguards, in terms of assurances and the likkkfathe practical operation of the
transfer arrangements and the degree of knowldtgents been acquired over time
about individual facilities and their staff.

At the centre of the case are the UK-AfghanistarlUMmd the related EoL. Those
documents contain what are on the face of it ingmirtassurances given by the
Government of Afghanistan concerning the treatm@ntletainees, together with
provisions for access to detainees for the purpbserifying that the commitments
entered into have been honoured in practice. Theians inRB (Algeria) indicate
that assurances of this kind are to be viewed sa#pticism or doubt when given by a
country with a record for disregarding fundamertaman rights (see [248]-[249]
above). The weight to be given to them dependsyekier, on the particular
circumstances. In a case such as this, where dberances are backed up by
provisions for monitoring and where the practicae@tion of the system can be
assessed over a period of several years, we thimkong to start with a dismissive
attitude towards them. The position has to beddadt in the round.
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As to Mr Fordham'’s criticisms of the MoU and Eolethselves, we do not place
much weight on the point that they were not orijjnantended to be public
documents. Nor do we consider the actual termisetanadequate. Afghanistan’s
acceptance of responsibility for treating transdsran accordance with that country’s
international human rights obligations, includifg tprohibition of torture and other
serious mistreatment, is clear enough. It was essential, for the purposes of
avoiding a real risk of serious mistreatment, token@rovision for all the matters
described as minimum guarantees in the Septemligt &port of the UN Special
Rapporteur. On the face of it, the basic obligais to compliance with international
human rights obligations, coupled with the provisidor full access by the AIHRC
and UK personnel (and for visits by the ICRC and biNman rights institutions),
covered the points that are essential for the mapof the present case; especially
when the requirements of access had been spellednote fully in the EoL,
including express provision for interviews in piiea

Much more problematic is the position of the NDSetation to the MoU and EoL.
Although the commitments in those documents weneergion behalf of the
Government of Afghanistan and were therefore tesdilyl binding on the NDS along
with other Afghan agencies, the reality was legsrctut. It seems that a deliberate
decision was taken both at the time of the MoU ainidhe time of the EoL not to have
the NDS as a counterparty. Yet the Minister ofddeke who signed the MoU made
clear at the time that he had no jurisdiction aver NDS. Although it was stated in
late June 2006 that the NDS had given an assuthaté would honour the terms of
the MoU with respect to access, and the discusdiwatstook place with the NDS
about access appear to have taken place withinfrémework of the MoU, the
problems that then occurred and the statementsviratthen made run counter to the
existence of a firm commitment by the NDS to enshat the terms of the MoU were
observed. It is striking that even in early 2000 Saleh, the head of the NDS, saw
value in claiming that the MoU was with the Ministsf Defence, not with the NDS,
and that the NDS had no direct obligation under MwJ unless directed by the
President. Dr Saleh may have been using thisppau of a different agenda of his
own, but it was evidently a point which he consadeworth deploying.

The fact that Dr Saleh was prepared to deploy thet pn this way also weakens the
suggestion made by Mr Eadie that there are powezhgons of self-interest why the
NDS will honour the terms of the MoU and EoL, lgsinsfers of detainees otherwise
have to cease. In any event we are not seizduedutl politics of the situation, both
internally within Afghanistan and as between thev&oment of Afghanistan and the
UK and other ISAF states, and we cannot be salighat the argument about self-
interest is well founded.

The very fact that it was thought necessary forSaleh to provide his letter of 25
March 2010, with its confirmation that the NDS wawalbserve all the responsibilities,
principles and procedures recorded in the MoU, gandhighlight the uncertainty of
the position prior to that. Nor is Dr Saleh’s égth sufficient answer for the future.
Its generalised confirmation that the NDS will alveethe responsibilities recorded in
the MoU provides only limited comfort in itself. "Qhe specific issues of access to,
and transfer of, detainees, with which the leteepiimarily concerned, everything
depends on how things work out on the ground. dheas a bad start. The letter
stated that Dr Saleh would direct that the posittemcerning access and transfer



298.

299.

300.

301.

302.

303.

should be followed for all detainees transferrenifithe UK armed forces. Yet on 17
April 2010 the head of NDS Lashkar Gah not onlysefd access to the facility but
stated that the letter had not been provided to lynKabul and therefore had no
authority. Only in early May was confirmation givéhat Dr Saleh had sent copies of
the letter to Lashkar Gah, with instructions toowallthe UK to visit transferred
detainees. On the other hand, the very fact thelh snstructions have now been
given can be regarded as a positive developmeidt &ahistorical contrast may be
drawn with the absence of evidence that the wriitstruction contemplated by the
EoL in late 2007 was ever issued by the NDS).

Overall, as it seems to us, the written assuramcéisemselves do not take matters
very far. One of the themes of the submissionssiechoing a sentiment voiced by a
UK official in June 2009, was that actions speaitdier than words. The critical
guestion is how the arrangements have operatechatiqe.

We therefore turn to consider, first, the issuaatess to transferees as provided for
by the MoU and EoL. It is an important topic. Uddficials have no direct
involvement in the interrogation of transfereestly NDS. They are dependent on
visits to transferees to monitor their conditiordaon check in particular that NDS
interrogators have not been using torture or oeious mistreatment to extract
confessions. The existence of an effective sysiEmonitoring not only provides a
check after the event but should also serve towage compliant behaviour on the
part of the NDS in the first place.

The focus must in our view be on access by UK pereb Access by the AIHRC
and the ICRC provides a secondary safeguard huatigan adequate substitute. The
AIHRC has itself had some access difficulties, @&nseems clear that it has not in
practice made regular visits to individual detage&he value of visits by the ICRC
is limited by the obligations of confidentiality which it is subject.

Within the broad topic of access it is necessargdnsider a number of aspects,
including the threshold question of physical acdesicilities, the extent to which it

has been possible to locate detainees at thosiiéadthe tracking problem), and the
quality of the visits to individual detainees, iarpcular whether interviews have
taken place in circumstances where detainees cargezted to voice any complaints
they may have about their treatment. It is helgfulook at each of the relevant
facilities in turn.

The position at NDS Kabul (Department 17) has besmicularly troubling. Little
occurred by way of UK visits before the NDS refusdldaccess to the facility in late
2008. When agreement was reached on the resunmygdtiaccess in February 2009,
but before a visit could be arranged, the UK wdsrimed that the UK transferees at
the facility had been moved by the NDS to Pol-i-@&harison. When the transferees
were visited at Pol-i-Charki, several allegatiofislldreatment by the NDS emerged,
including allegations of ill-treatment at NDS Kaldring the period when access to
that facility had been denied.

Further, since the access problems arose in 1418 #@&re has been little opportunity
to assess the position at the facility through nwoimg visits. The moratorium

imposed in December 2008 on the transfer of furthiércaptured detainees to the
facility has been kept in place, subject to theeptional transfer of one detainee in
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February 2010; and the only monitoring visits tovdndaken place have been recent
visits to that one individual.

UK experience of the position at NDS Kandahar hss been limited. As in the case

of NDS Kabul, relatively few UK-captured detaindes/e been transferred there; and
further UK transfers to the facility were suspendedune 2009 as a result of the
allegations made by one of the detainees visitdeloki-Charki. On the other hand,

there appears to have been no difficulty in vigittransferees while there remained
transferees to be visited at the facility. Sonml@mnee can also be placed on the fact
that, despite the sensitivities and political sayarising out of the earlier allegations

of ill-treatment of Canadian transferees at Kandakmanada assessed it safe to
resume its own transfers to the facility and hadently remained satisfied that they
can properly continue.

At Lashkar Gah there have been no serious diffesiluntil recently in gaining
access, though a number of visits have had to iheetlad over the years for security
reasons. There has been a recent hiccup, bud hden resolved and visits have been
resumed. It does not seem to us that any greaifisance should be attached to the
hiccup; we see no reason to reject the assessharhe refusal of access was due to
capacity problems at the facility. Tracking ditflies have not had a serious impact
at Lashkar Gah. The evidence is that it is a siaallity, the relationship with the
Afghan personnel in charge is good, and UK traesferthere have been readily
identified.

The character of visits conducted at Lashkar Galweler, falls well short of best

practice. Visits have not involved clearly privatgerviews with detainees. NDS

guards have been present, if only in the backgrourds situation is to some extent
understandable, given the security constraintsthadcheed to provide protection for

the visiting party; but it creates a problem foe #ffectiveness of visits. Although it

is said that detainees do not appear intimidatethbypresence of guards, they are
bound to be inhibited in making complaints of rk@tment in these circumstances.
The fear of reprisals against those known to hawencomplaints must be a
significant consideration.

It is not easy to evaluate recent developments esonty the quality of visits at
Lashkar Gah. At the time of the hearing beforemgswere told that because of
capacity and security constraints it had been plessd see detainees only in groups,
on some occasions in communal areas and on otleasioas through the hatch in
their cell door, with the guards remaining out @frshot. The most up-to-date
position, as described in the post-hearing eviderxehat on two recent visits a
number of detainees were seen briefly in the offitthe NDS deputy and two others
were seen in an empty corridor out of sight andteztrof any NDS officials. There
cannot yet be said to be a settled practice ofapginterviews, even though that is
said to be the aim.

The importance of private visits is underlined hg fact that the allegations by UK
transferees of ill-treatment at NDS facilities weilé made when the individuals in
guestion were visited away from the NDS, at prisamder the control of the Ministry
of Justice; and in some cases those making thgadilbes had previously been visited
while at an NDS facility but had said nothing atttime about alleged ill-treatment.
Whilst consideration needs to be given to the jpilgyiof subsequent fabrication, we
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think it likely that the different circumstances tie later interviews played a
significant part in eliciting complaints that hadtmpreviously been made.

As to the allegations themselves, we take the i@t no definite conclusions can be
reached by us as to their credibility. That viesv based on a number of
considerations:

)

ii)

The allegations have been investigated consciesijidoy UK officials, but
such investigations have been subject to inevithblgations. The lapse of
time between the alleged ill-treatment and the mgakif the complaint makes
it less likely that any corroborative physical mankould be found. In any
event, by no means all the ill-treatment allegethetuding electric shock
treatment — would necessarily leave physical maiMsreover those carrying
out the investigations, including medically qua&di personnel, have lacked
full expertise in the examination of alleged toetuwictims. Just as
importantly, whilst it has been possible to obtadime relevant evidence from
persons other than the detainee himself (for exanfpdbm the UK escort in
the case of prisoner E), it has not been possiblguestion NDS staff or
pursue wider inquiries within the NDS facility.

The investigations carried out by the NDS have hdearly inadequate, in so
far as one can judge them from the NDS’s reportshef outcome of such
investigations. In particular, we accept Mr Fonmafgcriticisms of the recent
written report.

Whilst we can look at the available material andsider, for example, the
extent to which the allegations made are suppootedontradicted by the
medical or other evidence, and the extent of imtiemconsistencies in the
statements made, we do not even have the beneityofirst-hand impression
of the complainants to aid us in determining criityb

Some of the abusive techniques alleged by the angits strike a chord
with repeated concerns expressed in the indepemepatts and with at least
one highly credible allegation in the Canadian maltd&the November 2007
incident where the instruments allegedly used wetad in the interview
room). Neither collusion nor widespread coincidéfbrication of accounts
seems to be a likely explanation.

The Secretary of State has sensibly accepted tme ©f the allegations may be
credible. In so far as other allegations have lemissed as lacking in credibility,
we do not think that such a firm conclusion canperty be reached. Although we
make no positive findings that the alleged abuse dwurred, we consider that the
only safe way to proceed in the particular circianses is on the assumption that the
allegations are true.

Nor can ill-treatment of UK transferees be saidhwvabnfidence to have occurred only
in those isolated instances. The deficienciebénnonitoring system preclude such a
categorical approach. The possibility of otheresasf abuse, which the monitoring
system has failed to identify, cannot be dismissed.
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It follows that the system of specific safeguamasUK transferees cannot be taken to
have insulated such transferees altogether frommiskeof ill-treatment evidenced by
the independent reports to which we have referbed@ We should, however, make
clear that we do not accept Mr Fordham’s submistian no distinction at all can be
drawn in terms of risk between UK transferees ati@rodetainees since the NDS's
own system of record-keeping does not distinguistwben them. We think it
inherently probable that when a detainee is ingated by the NDS it will be known
whether he is a UK transferee or not. The circamsts of an individual’s capture
will be highly relevant to any questioning, andhe case of UK transferees the hand-
over documents will include any relevant evidenéeirther, the smaller the facility,
the more likely it is that staff will know in anywent whether an individual detainee
was transferred there by the UK or by another |1Stsfe.

Whilst our concerns will be apparent from the temfghis judgment, we think it
unnecessary to rule on the historical issue of hgrahere was a real risk of torture or
serious mistreatment at the time when transferameg at various intermediate dates
thereafter (such as November 2007, one of the dateshich Mr Fordham placed
weight, or the date in 2008 when the claim form vgased). The picture has been an
evolving one as the case has proceeded; we have fresented with detailed
evidence of the up-to-date position; and the qaesif real importance, on which we
think it right to focus our attention, is whethbetcurrent practice of transfers is or is
not lawful, that is to say whether transfers aradpenade or are liable to be made in
circumstances where there is a real risk that fiea@ss will be subjected to torture or
serious mistreatment at the hands of the NDS.

We agree with Mr Eadie’s submission that for thispose it is appropriate to look at
the position of each NDS facility separately. Véeagnise that they are not entirely
isolated units, in that the NDS can in principlensfer detainees and staff between
them. In practice, however, transfers of detairgsveen facilities are limited by
security constraints which mean that transfers otganerally take place without the
active assistance of ISAF forces; and althoughetiesome evidence of movement of
NDS staff between facilities (including evidence afvisit by personnel from
Department 17 to Lashkar Gah), there is nothinghow that staff transfers have
taken place on a substantial scale. We also atleaptinder its current approach to
record-keeping and monitoring the UK would be k#&d discover relatively quickly
if a relevant detainee had been subject to annatéransfer by the NDS.

As to NDS Kabul, the moratorium on UK transferstl in place. In our view that is
as it should be. Department 17 is at the heattte@toncerns about the NDS’s use of
abusive techniques in the interrogation of detaned&he general evidence in the
independent reports has to be taken with the spedieégations made by prisoners A
to D and the refusal of access during the periodhah some of those allegations
related. There is nothing to show that the sackinthe head of the facility “due to
his harsh behaviour”, as the NDS’s own report pubhas resulted in a fundamental
change of attitudes or procedures at the facilitgince the specific allegations
emerged there has been little by way of monitoviisgs that would enable the UK to
acquire reliable first-hand experience of the facil We are far from satisfied as to
the sufficiency of safeguards for UK transfere€@mn the available evidence there is,
in our judgment, a real risk that UK transfereef ¢ subjected to torture or other
serious mistreatment at NDS Kabul.
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There has of course been a recent exception tontratorium, with the transfer of
one UK-captured detainee in January 2010. Whattwerstrength of the policy
considerations in favour of exceptions, we do hatkt that any such exceptions can
properly be made without clearly evidenced improgeta at Department 17.

The position in relation to NDS Kandahar and ND&Hlar Gah is more finely
balanced.

As to NDS Kandahar, the UK has adopted a precaatyoapproach in imposing a
moratorium on further transfers in mid-2009 anchat resuming transfers since the
formal lifting of the moratorium in February 2010 here is good reason for caution.
It is true that there has been little by way ofcsfe allegations of ill-treatment of UK
transferees at Kandahar, but the facility is neeffrom the taint of the background
evidence concerning the NDS, and the Canadian ralapeesents a troubling picture
historically. Moreover, there have been no receahitoring visits by UK personnel
that would give them up-to-date familiarity withetfacility and its staff. On the other
hand, Canada has formed the judgment, based onsex¢eup-to-date experience of
its own, that transfers can safely be made. Thabdt a complete substitute for first-
hand experience by UK personnel, but we have areaticated our acceptance that
some reliance can be placed on it.

It is also necessary to factor in the improvements time in the UK’s own approach
to monitoring, with its enhanced awareness of thygortance of private visits and the
establishment of a dedicated Detainee OversighinTe&ich would be responsible
for monitoring in the event that UK transfers to SIBlandahar were resumed.

We have concluded, after some hesitation, that dpttoed detainees could now be
transferred to NDS Kandahar without a real riskhafir being subjected to torture or
serious mistreatment at the hands of the N@8vided that the existing safeguards

are strengthened by observance of the followingditmms: (i) all transfers must be

made on the express basis (spelling out the rageines of the MoU and EolL) that
the UK monitoring team is to be given access tdhdeansferee on a regular basis,
with the opportunity for a private interview on baoccasion; (ii) each transferee
must in practice be visited and interviewed in @tévon a regular basis; and (iii) the
UK must consider the immediate suspension of furth@nsfers if full access is

denied at any point without an obviously good reasee have in mind circumstances
such as a security alert) or if a transferee malkegations of torture or serious
mistreatment by NDS staff which cannot reasonablg eapidly be dismissed as
unfounded. We have expressed the third condittonerms of an obligation to

consider immediate suspension of transfers rathem in automatic requirement to
suspend transfers, because in relation to a medgteénportant as suspension it would
be wrong to preclude an exercise of judgment basethe particular circumstances
that have arisen; but the decision should in oewvbe conditioned by the same
precautionary approach as led to the moratoriuntramsfers to NDS Kandahar in

mid-2009.

We turn finally to NDS Lashkar Gah, which in praeli terms is by far the most
important of the facilities to which transfers anade. We note that there have been
allegations by UK transferees of mistreatment theré nothing more recent than
2007, though the deficiencies in monitoring meaat the possibility of later abuses
cannot be discounted. The allegations made rgcenthe Afghan judge are a matter
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of obvious concern, but the judge made clear tiet tlid not relate to UK transferees
and that he had no concerns about the treatmedetainees transferred by ISAF
states. Even though we have criticised the lacktefrviews in private, it is fair to
say that monitoring visits have on the whole beegular and have given UK
personnel extensive knowledge of the facility asdstaff, to which must be added the
contacts and knowledge derived from the work danehie field of training and
capacity building. We think it right to place someight on the assessments made by
UK personnel in the light of that experience. Sameertainty arises, however, from
the recent departure of the head of the facility.

The conclusion to which we have come, again witlegree of hesitation, is that UK
transfers to NDS Lashkar Gah can continue witheat risk to transfereqwovided
that the conditions we have set out in relation to ND&#ahar are observed here
too.

We have reached our conclusions in relation to M@8dahar and NDS Lashkar Gah
with hesitation because, on the evidence takervdsoée, there is plainly possibility

of torture or serious mistreatment of UK transferee those facilities. In our
judgment, however, the operation of the monitosggtem (reinforced by observance
of the conditions we have set out), within the feavork of the MoU and EoL, is
sufficient to guard against the occurrence of alaigbose facilities on such a scale as
to give rise to aeal risk of torture or serious mistreatment in accordandé he
principles considered earlier in this judgmentldted examples of abuse may occur,
but we are not satisfied that a consistent pattéabuse is reasonably likely, such as
to expose all UK transferees to a real risk ofrglatment.

We repeat that in reaching our conclusions we haken into account the possibility
of onward transfer of a detainee from NDS KandahaNDS Lashkar Gah to NDS

Kabul, where we are not satisfied that the systeoviges sufficient safeguards for
the protection of UK transferees. The practicaltétions on onward transfer to NDS
Kabul mean that the possibility is insufficientlgrge to give rise to a real risk of
torture or serious mistreatment. We would havdepred to see the imposition of a
condition that detainees transferred by the UK @SNKandahar or NDS Lashkar
Gah are not to be transferred on to NDS Kabul, wat doubt whether such a
condition would be realistic and we do not thinlattlits absence should preclude
transfers to NDS Kandahar or NDS Lashkar Gah.

On the basis indicated above, we conclude on trstirx evidence that UK transfers
to NDS Kandahar and NDS Lashkar Gah can procedwutitoreach of the Secretary
of State’s policy but that it would be a breachhat policy and therefore unlawful for
UK transfers to be made to NDS Kabul.

The conclusion we have reached in this open judgmsen our view consistent with
the contents of the closed judgment.

We are inclined to the view that, in the light bétabove, there should be no order on
the claimant’'s application for judicial review (®awas regards any consequential
matters), but we will consider submissions from @hcerned before reaching a
decision on the proper disposal of the applicati®@uch submissions should in the
first instance be in writing. We will consider the light of the written submissions

whether a further oral hearing is necessary.



